
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on Friday, 17 August 2018, at 2.00 p.m. 

in the Bindloss Room, Kendal Town Hall 

 
Please note that training on the Overview and Scrutiny function and  
risk management will be provided for Members of the Committee at  

10.00 a.m. in the Bindloss Room, Kendal Town Hall. 
 

All Members of the Council are welcome to attend the session. 
 

Committee Membership 

Councillors 

Robin Ashcroft 
Pat Bell 

Brian Cooper 
Anne Hall 

Hazel Hodgson 
Vicky Hughes (Chairman) 

Anne Hutton 
Janette Jenkinson 

Ian Mitchell 
Doug Rathbone (Vice-Chairman) 

Vivienne Rees 
Mark Wilson 

 

 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Wednesday, 8 August 2018 
 
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Jason Habbershon 

 

Telephone: 01539 793187 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 14 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 13 July 2018 (copy attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP   

 In accordance with Rule 17 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, any 
Member who is subject to a party whip on any item must declare the existence 
and nature of the whip. 

 

5  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

6  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
 
(1)        Questions and Representations 
 
To receive any questions or representations which have been received from 
members of the public. 
 
(2)        Deputations and Petitions 
 
To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


members of the public. 

7  WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN  15 - 28 

 To consider the current Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme, 
and the contents of the latest Forward Plan. 

 

8  COST RECOVERY AND HARDSHIP POLICY  29 - 48 

 To consider the draft Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy which is required in 
support of the Council’s existing Contaminated Land Strategy. 

 

9  COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 1 2018/19  49 - 96 

 To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the 
Council Plan 2014-2019. 

 

10  PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - HOUSING, PEOPLE AND INNOVATION  97 - 100 

 To consider the annual report from the Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio 
Holder on the progress made within the portfolio area and their plans for the 
future. 

 

11  CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE  101 - 102 

 To receive an update on the work of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee 
from the Council’s representative or substitute. 

 

PART II   

 Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph 
number) 

There are no items in this part of the agenda. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Friday, 13 July 2018, at 
11.00 a.m.

Present

Councillors

Doug Rathbone (Vice-Chairman)

Robin Ashcroft
Pat Bell

Brian Cooper

Hazel Hodgson
Anne Hutton

Janette Jenkinson

Vivienne Rees
Mark Wilson

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Vicky Hughes (Chairman).

Officers

Una Bell Assistant Committee Services Officer
Inge Booth Senior Committee Services Officer
Lawrence Conway Chief Executive
Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer
Peter Holland Senior Communications Officer
Hayley Jordan Procurement Officer
Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation
Claire Read Financial Services Officer
Simon Rowley Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services
Helen Smith Financial Services Manager
Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
David Sykes Director People and Places

Also in attendance were Councillors Andrew Jarvis (Finance Portfolio Holder) and Dyan 
Jones (Environment Portfolio Holder).

O&S/1 MINUTES 

RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 20 April 2018.

O&S/2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised.

O&S/3 DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of the party whip were raised.

Page 5

Item No.2



2
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O&S/4 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda.

O&S/5 TERMS OF REFERENCE 

RESOLVED – That the Terms of Reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
noted.

O&S/6 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions 
have been received in respect of this meeting.

O&S/7 NORTHERN RAIL SERVICES 

The Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, chairing the meeting, 
welcomed Craig Harrop, Northern Rail’s Interim Regional Director, and Martin Keating, 
Northern Rail’s Regional Communities and Sustainability Manager, to the meeting.

Mr Harrop began his presentation by apologising for the unacceptable situation which 
Northern Rail had found itself in over recent months and for the disruption and 
inconvenience which had been experienced within South Lakeland as a result. He 
explained that Northern Rail were working hard to fix these issues and reported that an 
independent assessment and review would be carried out in the coming weeks, with 
recommendations due to be released in September.

A background to the problems which had seen delays and cancellations across the Lakes 
Line and Furness Line since May was provided. The May 2018 timetable had been 
designed to be the first major step in modernising rail in the North, but had been 
predicated on the delivery of electrification between Manchester and Preston, a Network 
Rail project which was two years behind schedule. As a result, Northern Rail had been 
required to rewrite that timetable in around a third of the time normally given to such a 
project, and a request to revert to the previously agreed timetable had been rejected by 
the rail industry. These delays had impacted on depot crews as more training was 
required in a shorter space of time. This had been compounded by the withdrawal of an 
agreement with the driver’s trade union to allow drivers to undergo training during rest 
days.

Mr Harrop explained that it had been clear by the end of the first week of the new May 
timetable that it was not possible to both roll out the plan and to continue with the training, 
and that the only way forward was to curtail some services. The result was the removal of 
165 trains (around 6%) from service; despite leaving 300 more trains than the previous 
timetable, this had meant that the entire Lakes Line service was withdrawn.

Northern Rail’s aim was to now provide a reliable service which was stable to plan around 
and to give customers more faith in journey opportunities, with a view to reintroducing a 
robust timetable from the end of July 2018. However, it was important that the timetable 
was not put in place prematurely and the entire process was under close review. The 
number of cancellations had dropped significantly following the introduction of an interim 
timetable and driver training was now almost complete. 

Page 6



3
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

During the withdrawal of the Lakes Line, efforts had been made to reduce the impact on 
customers, from adding in additional services for children travelling to schools, moving to 
a half-hourly bus service, and using social media to make clear that people would still be 
able to travel into the Lake District. A second operator, West Coast Railways, had joined 
the service provision during this time, and the Northern Rail shuttle service had returned 
to the Lakes Line from 2 July. This reintroduction had gone well, with buses continuing to 
supplement the train plan, although cable theft and sickness absence had caused some 
issues over the first weekend.

Mr Harrop announced that a compensation fund of £6m had been made available for 
customers, and Transport for the North and the Department for Transport had announced 
a marketing fund which would be targeted specifically at those lines which had been 
affected by the cancellations. This fund would be used by a number of partners, with 
Cumbria Tourism particularly keen to adopt a nationwide and long-term marketing 
strategy. Northern Rail would themselves add a second, complementary marketing 
scheme for the area.

Mr Harrop concluded his presentation by explaining that the scheduled December 2018 
timetabling had been deferred to May 2019 to allow for more work to be done to ensure 
that the problems experienced recently would not happen again. 

The Vice-Chairman of the Committee emphasised that this was an issue of clear local 
concern, with two key local routes impacted, each with diverse stakeholders affected. The 
Committee asked what level of flexibility and strategic planning would be put in place by 
Northern Rail to avoid similar circumstances occurring in the future. It was also queried 
how dependent future plans would be on an agreement for overtime and rest day working. 
Mr Harrop explained that a new agreement was in place with the union which would 
enable training to be delivered on time. The use of rest day working for training purposes 
was essential to ensure that training could be completed without impacting on the train 
plan. He also highlighted that over 160 new drivers had been recruited since the start of 
the franchise, and reviews had been carried out on the setup of both the Barrow and 
Blackpool depots. Northern Rail had ensured during the new interim timetable that 
services operating within South Lakeland were protected as much as possible. Although 
the service would always be susceptible to infrastructure failures and unexpected driver 
absences, a 40% spare ratio had been achieved at each depot and sickness absence was 
being closely managed. Driver training had now been completed and Northern Rail were 
confident that they would be able to meet the new timetable on all lines.

Following a request from Members, Mr Harrop agreed to attend a future meeting of the 
Committee to provide an update on progress made. Details of when this would be would 
be discussed in due course.

It was confirmed that Lakes Line was the only route which had experienced a complete 
withdrawal of service, but the actual number of trains removed from service had not been 
dissimilar from other lines across the franchise.

Concern was raised regarding the confusion caused amongst passengers and it was 
suggested that additional support was required for customers and not simply the 
arrangement for a replacement bus service.

Mr Harrop was asked what lessons had been learnt by Northern Rail and whether the 
company’s risk register required review in light of the issues experienced. In response he 
referred to the independent review being conducted by the Office of Rail and Road and 
explained that the findings from this would become a key component of future risk 
mitigation. Northern Rail had itself conducted a review of depot establishment sizes, 

Page 7



4
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

resilience and training capacity, and had set up a regular forum with Network Rail to 
ensure that the misalignment experienced recently could be avoided in the future.

Members highlighted that although it was clear that a number of problems had resulted in 
the withdrawal of the Lakes Lines service in May, to customers within the area the 
problems surrounding the route had long been experienced and there was a real need to 
raise the public perception of the rail network. Mr Harrop acknowledged that issues had 
been experienced prior to May, and felt that the transition between operators at the start 
of the current franchise could have been better managed.

The Committee sought to make clear the importance of a reliable and effective rail 
network to the area, not only to tourism through the Lakes Line but to the businesses of 
the area through the Furness Line, with anecdotal evidence being heard that businesses 
were suffering because they could not recommend the rail network to investors and 
partners. The Furness Line required greater investment, not second-hand carriages, and it 
was suggested that the Lakes Line could act as a “shop window” for Northern Rail if done 
correctly. It was explained by Members that the Council had a good reputation for 
partnership working and Mr Harrop was asked how South Lakeland District Council 
(SLDC) could work with Northern Rail to improve services in the future. Mr Harrop 
responded by explaining that the company had an existing forum in the Cumbria Better 
Connected group and stated that he would welcome SLDC becoming more involved. He 
was happy to work with SLDC on any matter, and explained that the Northern Franchise 
was about transformation and investment, something which had not been done before 
within this area. Northern Rail had recognised early on that more numerous and modern 
trains were needed for the franchise, as well as greater capacity and station 
improvements which would be provided through the franchise’s investment fund. 

Mr Harrop confirmed that the franchise contract was very specific and from May 2019 
Northern Rail were looking to double the number of trains on the Furness Line direct to 
Manchester Airport and to increase the number of direct trains on the Lakes Line from 
zero to four. The company was also working with the local Lakes Line User Group to help 
better understand the demographic using the service, the findings of which would be fed 
into the train planning team to tailor future timetables to the needs of the public.

The lack of information available at Oxenholme and Windermere stations and the impact 
that this would have on visitors was raised. It was questioned how communications would 
be improved, not only for commuters but also for first time visitors who would otherwise be 
put off by the experience that they would have. Mr Harrop explained that during the first 
two weeks of the timetable the number of delays and cancellations had been too 
numerous for customer information screens to keep up. Information had been distributed 
through social media and additional staff had been placed on stations, however it was 
recognised that these were reactive measures. A review was being carried out to ensure 
that Northern Rail’s information system was fit for purpose and would be able to provide 
up-to-date and accurate information. The earlier mentioned station improvement funds 
would allow for information screens to be placed on every station, some of which would 
also be supported by PA systems. Mr Harrop also highlighted Northern Rail’s work with 
local businesses such as Mountain Goat, where a departure screen had been placed to 
provide information to travellers using both services. 

Mr Harrop was asked what assurances could be given that the Lakes and Furness Lines 
would have a reliable service between now and the new timetabling in May 2019. He 
reiterated that the interim timetable had been put in place to ensure a more stable and 
robust train plan. The service was under continuous review and whilst it was expected that 
service would resume in July, the full timetable would not be put in place if it was not 
ready and could instead be phased in. Buses would remain in place for a time to provide a 

Page 8



5
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

safety net for the service and to fill any gaps in provision which remained whilst the return 
to the full timetable was underway.

It was queried whether the decision not to electrify the Lakes Line had indirectly led to the 
problems on the route. Mr Harrop explained that it was the delays in electrifying the route 
between Manchester and Preston and Preston and Blackpool that had resulted in the 
issues, but that the lack of Lakes Line electrification had nevertheless provided added 
complication due to changes required to the new train investment package.

Concern was raised regarding the reputational impact of the chaos experienced during the 
withdrawal of the Lakes Line, and the continuing issues at Oxenholme due to a lack of 
information for passengers. Members expressed strongly that South Lakeland did not 
want to become associated with these issues, and the Lake District should be a location 
that passengers can travel to directly and without delay. South Lakeland must no longer 
be regarded as the last on the line, but should be included early in discussions about how 
services were progressing and being brought into the future.

The importance of changing the public perception of the Lakes Line from that of a failed 
network was raised, and it was asked whether Northern Rail would commit to widespread 
promotion and discounts and advertising in order to bring people back to the area. Mr 
Harrop reiterated that the foundation for recovery was a strong and robust train plan and 
that this would then be built upon with additional marketing. Referring back to his earlier 
comments, Mr Harrop explained that the two advertising campaigns planned would be 
delivered alongside each other to ensure the greatest value for money and to capture the 
attention of the widest audience. In addition to traditional advertising, special offers and 
discounts would be announced which would prove very attractive to customers. 
Responding to a supplementary question, Mr Harrop explained that he had not yet seen 
details of the offers planned but he anticipated that the promotions would apply to both the 
Lakes Line and Furness Line. It was asked what plans would be put in place to co-
ordinate these offers with other rail operators such as Virgin Trains to entice customers 
from further afield. Mr Harrop undertook to speak to the marketing teams of both Northern 
Rail and Virgin Trains to ensure that the offers were suitably balanced for both local 
commuters and the leisure market.

In response to concerns raised, Mr Harrop stated that he was in regular discussions with 
local MPs and had welcomed the opportunity to speak to this Committee. He wished to 
continue the dialogue with SLDC and to share progress with Members in the future.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the business update from Northern Rail be noted;

(2) Northern Rail attend a future meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting to provide an update on progress made; and

(3) consideration be given to the Council appointing a representative to the Cumbria 
Better Connected group.

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn at 12.30 p.m. and reconvened at 1.20 p.m. 
when the same Members were present.

Page 9



6
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O&S/8 WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN 

The Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer introduced the latest version of the Forward Plan 
and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 2018/19 Work Programme.

Following a request for additional information regarding the upcoming Cumbria Care 
Leaver Council Tax Exemption key decision, the Director People and Places undertook to 
provide a short briefing note for the Committee following the meeting.

It was suggested that the Committee’s named representative to the North West 
Employers Strategic Scrutiny Network continue to be the Chairman of the Committee, with 
the Vice-Chairman acting as substitute. Information relating to the Strategic Scrutiny 
Network’s meetings would continue to be forwarded to the Committee to provide Members 
an opportunity to inform the Chairman should they be interested in also attending a 
particular session.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the latest Forward Plan be received;

(2) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s current work programme be noted; and

(3) the current arrangements for the Chairman of the Committee to act as named 
representative to the North West Employers Strategic Scrutiny Network, with the Vice-
Chairman acting as substitute, be continued in future years.

O&S/9 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2017/18 

The Finance Portfolio Holder presented the Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 report 
which set out the Council’s financial performance for 2017/18 and the impact on reserves. 
In concluding his presentation, the Portfolio Holder expressed his view that the report 
highlighted that the Council continued to have good control of its expenditure.

The Financial Services Manager provided additional information regarding the reasons for 
capitalisation of flood relief grants at year end.

A discussion took place regarding the underspend within Community Grants and 
specifically regarding the amount which was to be put back into reserves. A suggestion 
was made that this money could be made available, in full or in part, to be used within 
Members’ locality budgets for health and wellbeing projects in line with the aims of the 
Council Plan. The Finance Portfolio Holder undertook to take the suggestion back to his 
Cabinet colleagues and to review whether there was any scope to build greater flexibility 
within the locality budgets in the future.

RESOLVED – That 

(1) the outturn figures be noted; and

(2) the comments made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be taken forward as 
appropriate for consideration by Cabinet.

Page 10



7
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O&S/10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 AND 2018/19 STRATEGY 
UPDATE 

The Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 and 2018/19 Strategy Update was 
presented by the Finance Portfolio Holder. He emphasised that the current premium level 
on the Council’s borrowing was circa 83% and that, as a result, it was prudent to continue 
paying the debt at current levels and to invest until a stage where the repayment premium 
was more attractive. Investments continued to outperform benchmark rates and the 
Council had reached the end of the payback period for the early repayment in 2013/14 
and was now experiencing an annual saving.

A technical change was being recommended to the Treasury Management Strategy which 
would extend the Counterparty limits to investments with the highest, purple or yellow, 
creditworthiness scores under Link Asset Services. These institutions would have the 
same duration and amount overlays as the current best counterparties.

RESOLVED – That Council be recommended to approve the 2017/18 Treasury 
Management Annual Report and the update to the 2018/19 Treasury Management 
Strategy.

O&S/11 DRAFT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2019/20 TO 2023/24 

The draft Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24, incorporating the Financial 
Strategy and the Budget Strategy (referred to collectively as the MTFP) was presented by 
the Finance Portfolio Holder. The MTFP would ensure that the Council had a sound basis 
for allocating resources and effective financial management over the medium term. The 
overall position would be constantly reviewed and reported over the rest of 2018 and early 
2019 as part of the budget process and update reports.

The Finance Portfolio Holder stated that the Council began this process in a relatively 
robust position and that, through prudent financial management, the Council had a record 
of balanced budgets, good reserves, low debt and a healthy cash balance. He 
emphasised that the Council had maintained services and activities despite the reduction 
in Government support.

The Finance Portfolio Holder highlighted the changes that had arisen following approval of 
the Budget in February 2018, including the anticipated changes to the finances of the 
Customer Connect Programme which would be considered by Council on 24 July. He 
highlighted the impact of inflation, and the efforts being made to address the deficit 
predicted over the course of the MTFP. The Portfolio Holder offered reassurance that the 
2019/20 and 2020/21 deficits were manageable, and added that serious actions, such as 
those of Customer Connect, were required to address the longer-term deficits. He also 
highlighted three significant items facing the Council’s finances: uncertainty regarding the 
Second Homes Bonus agreement with Cumbria County Council that was due to come to 
an end in March 2019; the possibility of Cumbria becoming a pilot area for 100% retention 
of National Non-Domestic Rates (also referred to as Business Rates); and the great 
uncertainty regarding local government funding.

In concluding his presentation, the Finance Portfolio Holder thanked the Finance Team for 
their work in producing the MTFP. The Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, chairing the meeting, echoed those thanks.

The Financial Services Manager provided additional information regarding Business 
Rates including the current distribution of income, the effect of Business Rate Pooling, the 

Page 11



8
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

proposed changes to Business Rate retention and how entry into the 100% business rate 
retention pilots could benefit the Council.

In response to a query, the Financial Services explained how the distinction between 
holiday homes, empty homes and second homes impacted on whether a property was 
required to pay Council Tax or Business Rates. A description of the effect of probate on 
Council Tax exemption was also provided.

The Chief Executive explained the current thinking amongst businesses regarding 
Business Rates, with many of the opinion that they should be scrapped or reformed. He 
felt that the differing views of businesses and the Government was a conundrum which 
needed to be resolved and stated that the Council could become increasingly reliant on 
something which local businesses did not like. The Vice-Chairman added his view that 
this was an area where greater communication with residents and local businesses was 
needed, particularly in addressing concerns surrounding the future of high streets.

It was asked whether more information regarding the Council’s assets would be presented 
to the Committee in the future and whether a representative of Lambert Smith Hampton 
would be present. The Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer confirmed that the Corporate 
Asset Strategy was currently to be considered at the meeting on Friday, 17 August, and 
that a representative of Lambert Smith Hampton would be invited to attend the meeting.

RESOLVED – That 

(1) the draft Medium Term Financial Plan be noted; and

(2) the comments made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be taken forward as 
appropriate for consideration by Cabinet.

O&S/12 ANNUAL PROCUREMENT UPDATE 2017-2018 

The Finance Portfolio Holder introduced a report providing Members with an update on 
the progress of the procurement function across the Council and against the Sustainable 
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy 2016 to 2019. The work of the Procurement 
Team had helped the Council to reduce costs or work towards offsetting inflationary 
pressures. 

The Finance Portfolio Holder explained that the Council’s procurement function had been 
subject to a review by Internal Audit during the past year, and that a reasonable 
assurance rating had been received. However, issues had been raised regarding some 
inconsistencies in applying tendering and quotes and a need to raise awareness internally 
of the Contract Management Policy. He was pleased to announce that those key actions 
raised were either complete or in progress and none were outstanding.

Both the Finance Portfolio Holder and the Committee thanked officers for their work.

RESOLVED – That the progress of the procurement function across the Council over the 
financial year 2017-2018 be note.

O&S/13 CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE 

Councillor Vivienne Rees updated Members on the work of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee. She explained that much was happening, but that this tended to be focused 
around the North of the County. Councillor Rees had continued to draw attention to the 

Page 12



9
13.07.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

rural areas of Cumbria and particularly within South Lakeland. She highlighted a recent 
consultation carried out through Healthwatch Cumbria’s “Chatty Van” which, despite its 
mobility, had not visited locations outside of the main urban centres of the District.

Councillor Rees explained that she had introduced a lead member of the Better Care 
Together programme to the Practice Manager of Ambleside’s Central Lakes Medical 
Group. She highlighted the strain experienced by rural GP practices due to funding cuts, 
and suggested that this had resulted in fewer rural GPs being able to take part in these 
strategic discussions.

The proposed amalgamation of the North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust and the 
Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was reported. Councillor Rees expressed 
particular concern regarding the impact that this will have on the county-wide focus of the 
Foundation Trust, and particularly its capacity within the Central and South of Cumbria, if 
such a merger occurred.

Councillor Mark Wilson, a County Council representative of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee expressed his view that there would be a benefit to all Members of the Council 
receiving information regarding the changes to health services within the area. He also 
highlighted the possibilities for better health care away from hospitals. 

RESOLVED – That the update be noted.

The meeting ended at 2.35 p.m.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Friday, 17 August 2018 

Work Programme and Forward Plan 

 

Chairman:   Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Wards:  Not applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 An effective and timely work programme will allow the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to maximise the value it can add to the work of the Council and the 
services provided for residents. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 

(1) receives the latest Forward Plan; and 

(2) notes and/or amend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s current 
work programme. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Forward Plan as published on 24 July 2018 is attached as Appendix 1. One new 
item, Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy, has been added since the last meeting of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. That item is scheduled for a decision by 
Cabinet on 10 September 2018 and is also included elsewhere on this agenda. 

3.2 Attached as Appendix 2 is the updated Work Programme for 2018/19. Following the 
previous meeting, the following amendments have been made:- 

 The Scrutiny Progress Report scheduled for this meeting has been moved to 
the October meeting. This is to align the update reports in a six-monthly cycle 
and to allow the outcomes of the Corporate Asset Strategy item elsewhere 
on this agenda to feed into this report. 

 An update on the work of the Building Financial Resilience Group arising 
from the O&S Tackling Poverty Together Workshop held in December 2016 
is scheduled to be presented to the Committee at its meeting in January 
2019. 

 The Green Team Update has been scheduled for February 2019. 

 The Flood Grant Report initially scheduled for this meeting will now be heard 
in October 2018 to allow more information to be included within the 
document. 

Page 15

Item No.7



 An update to the Equality Scheme is also scheduled to be considered at the 
meeting in October 2018. 

 The Corporate Asset Strategy needs some additional consultation prior to 
being presented to the Committee. The strategy will now come to the 
meeting in October 2018 

3.3 Due to the number of agenda items currently scheduled for the October 2018 
meeting, it is possible that an earlier start time may be required. This will be 
confirmed with Members nearer the time. 

3.4 It is anticipated that the Strategic Review of the Health and Wellbeing Priority will be 
scoped in early November 2018 following the consideration of the draft revised 
Council Plan by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 26 October. 
This will allow Members to take direction from the new Council Plan and will ensure 
that the findings from the review can feed into the following annual review. 

3.5 The Economic Growth Strategy Review is scheduled to begin in September 2018. An 
update on the timings will be provided at the meeting. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Work Programme is set by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following 
consultation with a number of parties including officers, councillors and external 
organisations. The Forward Plan is considered by the Council’s Senior Management 
Team and the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council prior to publication. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 There are no alternative options presented. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 The topics on the Overview and Scrutiny work programme link closely to the various 
priorities and aims as set out within the Council Plan 2014-2019 (2017 Update). 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 There are no financial, resource or procurement implications arising from this report. 

Human Resources 

7.2.1 There is a need to ensure that there are sufficient resources to enable the work 
programme to be supported. 

Legal 

7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 
committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. By preparing a planned 
work programme, the Committee can ensure that it has adequate time to properly 
consider those key areas where it can add greatest value. In turn, this will enable the 
Council to demonstrate that it has effective scrutiny arrangements in place. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No. 

Page 16



7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: 
There are no implications arising from this report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No. 

7.7 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: 
There are no implications arising from this report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee does not monitor its 
work programme 

Opportunities to add value 
through additional work 
are missed. 

The Work Programme is 
not fit for purpose. 

Regular review of both the 
Work Programme and the 
upcoming work of the 
Cabinet through review of 
the Forward Plan. 

Contact Officers 

Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 01539 793187 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Latest Forward Plan (published 24 July 2018) 

2 Current O&S Work Programme 

Background Documents Available 

None.  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 25/07/18 

Section 151 Officer 25/07/18 

Monitoring Officer 25/07/18 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 25/07/18 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman 30/07/18 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 17/08/18 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 17

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



1 

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS, PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS AND 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISIONS 
AS PUBLISHED ON 24 JULY 2018 

The Council is required to give 28 days’ notice when Key Decisions are to be made, and 
when an executive meeting is to be held in private. The Notice has been drafted to comply 
with that requirement. It is available for inspection on the Council’s website as well as at 
South Lakeland House, Kendal and sets out the following:- 

(1) the matters which the Executive (also known as the Cabinet) believes fall within the
definition of a Key Decision (see definition below) to be taken by the Executive or a
Senior Officer of the Council;

(2) details of any private meeting (see definition below) of the Executive; and

(3) proposals for the recommendation to Council of any plan, strategy or budget that
forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, and its timetable and
arrangements for consultation. The policies which make up the Budget and Policy
Framework can be found in Article 4, Part 2 of the Council’s Constitution, viewable on
the Council’s website www.southlakeland.gov.uk

(Budget and Policy Framework Decisions are not Key Decisions (i.e. they are not
Executive decisions but are decided by the Full Council; although the Executive may
make recommendations to Council about them). In the spirit of openness and
transparency the Council has decided to publicise the decision making process for
such matters in the same manner as for Key Decisions.)

Documentation 

Reports, as well as any background information, will be available for public inspection five 
working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is going to made. 
However, some of the reports may contain confidential information and, in that case, will not 
be available to the public. 

When the Executive is going to consider a confidential report, at least 28 days’ notice will be 
given of the intention to hold the meeting in private. A Notice to this effect will be published 
on the Council’s website.  

Background Information 

If you wish to inspect background information, which will inform the decision-making process, 
contact the Lead Officer identified in the Notice as dealing with that matter. When the agenda 
for the meeting is published on the Council’s website, normally at least 5 working days before 
the meeting, these documents will also be made available via the website.  However, you will 
not be allowed to access any papers which contain exempt or confidential information. 

Representations (views you wish to make) 

If you wish to make a representation, either about one of the Key Decisions listed (where the 
meeting is to be held in private), or that an Executive meeting should be open to the public, 
you must write to the Lead Officer identified as dealing with that decision with your reasons 
why the meeting should not be held in private. This must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 

Appendix 1

Page 19



 

2 

Decision Notice 
 
A Decision Notice for each Key Decision, or other Executive decision, will be produced as 
soon as practicable after the decision has been taken.  These Decision Notices will be 
available for inspection at South Lakeland House, Kendal and on the Council’s website. 
 
Urgent Decisions 
 
The Law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent decisions to be made provided 
certain criteria are met and relevant Notices published accordingly.  None of the decisions 
detailed in this Notice are deemed to be Urgent Decisions - unless expressly stated. 
 
Key Decision 
 
This definition was adopted by Council on Thursday, 17 December 2015 and is as follows :- 
 
“An executive decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to result in the Authority 
incurring expenditure or making savings above £100,000.” 
 
Private Meetings 
 
In regard to this Notice, private meetings are meetings of the Executive, or part of a meeting, 
during which the public are excluded as a result of confidential or exempt information being 
discussed. A reason will be given why it is felt that there is a need for the public to be 
excluded. If you wish to make a representation regarding the intention to hold the meeting in 
private, you must follow the procedure shown above under “Representations”. 
 
The District Council’s Executive Members are:- 
 
Cllr Giles Archibald – Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Jonathan Brook – Deputy Leader and Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Chris Hogg – Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Graham Vincent – Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Dyan Jones – Environment Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Andrew Jarvis – Finance Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Philip Dixon –Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder 
 
The District Council’s Chief Officers are:- 
 
Lawrence Conway – Chief Executive 
Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
David Sykes – Director People and Places 
Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director (Resources) and Chief Finance Officer 
 
The District Council’s Assistant Directors are:- 
 
Ian Hassall –Assistant Director Strategic Development 
Simon McVey – Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 
Simon Rowley – Assistant Director of Neighbourhood Services 

Page 20



 

3 

 
 

 Key Decision - Customer Connect Programme Business Case 

  
The Business case will set out the implementation costs and savings achieved by the 
Customer Connect Programme. The Business case will set out the timeline by which the 
savings will be delivered. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (24 Jul 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet (18 Jul 2018) 

Date notice first published: 19 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 17 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 None 

Lead Officer: Claire Gould, Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager 
c.gould@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Performance and Innovation, Assistant Director 
Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Portfolio Holder: Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Medium Term Financial Plan 

  Financial Strategy, five year financial plan and budget strategy for 2019/20 to 2023/24 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (24 Jul 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (13 Jul 2018), 
Cabinet (18 Jul 2018) 

Date notice first published: 21 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 None 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 

Page 21



 

4 

 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 

  
To note the outturn figures and budget variances for 2017/18 and to update the Council's 
Capital Programme for carry forwards and other changes. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (24 Jul 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (13 Jul 2018), 
Cabinet (18 Jul 2018) 

Date notice first published: 21 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2017/18 Final Accounts Report - Carry Forwards and Movements on Reserves Council 22 
May 2018 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Treasury Management Strategy 
2018/19 update 

  To update the counterparty limits in the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (24 Jul 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (13 Jul 2018), 
Cabinet (18 Jul 2018) 

Date notice first published: 21 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 19 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2018/19 to 2022/23 Treasury Management Framework approved Council 27 February 2018 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 

Page 22



 

5 

 Key Decision - Housing Loans Scheme 

  To consider the details and pilot scheme. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (10 Sep 2018) 

Date notice first published: 29 May 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 June 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 None. 

Lead Officer: Dan Hudson, Development Strategy and Housing Manager 
d.hudson@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Strategic Development 

Portfolio Holder: Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 

 Key Decision - Ulverston Leisure Site Masterplan 

  
To consider the outcome of the second stage feasibility study and to consider options for 
proceeding to detailed design. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (10 Sep 2018) 

Date notice first published: 28 April 2017 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 May 2017) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
Previous report to Cabinet July 2016  

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director People and Places d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder: Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder (Cllr Chris Hogg) 

 

 Key Decision - Cumbria Care Leaver Council Tax Exemption 

  
To create a local discount for Council Tax to exempt care leavers from Council Tax with 
effect from the 1st April 2018 in conjunction with other Cumbrian Authorities and Preceptors 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (10 Sep 2018) 

Date notice first published: 19 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 17 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Copy of Proposed policy 

Lead Officer: Michael Fisher, Revenues and Benefits Services Manager 
michael.fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 

Page 23



 

6 

 Key Decision - Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy *NEW* 

  
A Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy is required should the remediation of contaminated 
land be necessary in association with the adopted Contaminated Land Strategy. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (10 Sep 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (17 Aug 2018), 
Cabinet (10 Sep 2018) 

Date notice first published: 24 July 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 21 August 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Contaminated Land Strategy. 

Lead Officer: Sean Hall, Principal Environmental Protection Officer 
s.hall@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 

Portfolio Holder: Environment Portfolio Holder (Cllr Dyan Jones) 

 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - The Gambling Act 2005 - Revised 
Statement of Gambling Policy 

  
Revision of Gambling Policy under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 and to ensure it is 
in line with the Gambling Commission guidance to local authorities 5th Edition (September 
2016) 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (10 Oct 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Licensing Regulatory Committee (21 Aug 2018) 

Date notice first published: 29 May 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 June 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Report to the Licensing Regulatory Committee, report to Full Council and revised Statement of 
Gambling Policy 

Lead Officer: Hardeep Burnley, Principal Food, Licensing and Safety Officer 
hardeep.burnley@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 

Portfolio Holder: Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder (Cllr Chris Hogg) 

 

Page 24



 

7 

 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Statement of Community Involvement 

  
Updating of Statement of Community Involvement to take account legislative and regulatory 
changes and Council's procedural changes relating to Customer Connect. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (10 Oct 2018) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet (18 Jul 2018) 

Date notice first published: 19 June 2018 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 17 July 2018) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Draft Revised Statement of Community Involvement 

Lead Officer: Alastair McNeill, Development Plans Manager a.mcneill@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Assistant Director: Assistant Director Strategic Development 

Portfolio Holder: Deputy Leader of the Council (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 

Page 25



Page 26



Appendix 2 

Page 1 of 1 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

Committee Meetings 

Date Expected agenda items 

2018 

Fri, 13 Jul 
10.30am 
 
9.30am Scrutiny 
Training 

Update from Northern Rail; 
Draft Treasury Management Annual Report; 
Draft Medium Term Financial Plan; 
Revenue and Capital Out-turn; 
Procurement Annual Report; 
Appointment of representative to the North West Regional Scrutiny Members’ Network; 
 

Fri, 17 Aug 
2pm 
 
10am Scrutiny 
and Risk and 
Performance 
Training 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q1; 
Portfolio Holder Report – Housing, Innovation and People (Deputy Leader); 
Contaminated Land Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy; 

Fri, 26 Oct 
2pm (or 10am 
if required) 

Community Safety Partnership Mid-Year Update; 
Draft Council Plan;  
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q2; 
Portfolio Holder Report – Promoting South Lakeland (Leader) and Environment; 
Financial Monitoring Q2; 
Flood Grant Report; 
Equality Scheme; 
Corporate Asset Strategy; 
Scrutiny Progress Report; 

2019 

Fri, 11 Jan 
2pm 

Draft Budget and Procurement Schedule; 
Draft Treasury Management Framework; 
Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024 (tbc); 
Update on Tackling Poverty Together; 
 

Fri, 1 Feb 
2pm 

Financial Monitoring Q3; 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q3; 
Portfolio Holder Report – Economy and Assets and Finance; 
Green Team Update; 
 

Fri, 26 Apr 
2pm 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q4; 
Portfolio Holder Reports – Culture and Leisure and Health and Wellbeing; 
Draft Scrutiny Annual Report; 
Work Programme 2019/20 Setting; 
Effectiveness Review and Scrutiny Progress Report; 
Community Safety Partnership Year-End Update; 
 

Tbc Further Update from Northern Rail; 
 

Scrutiny Reviews 

Date Format Information 

Sept 2018 Task and Finish Economic Growth Strategy 

Nov 2018 start Task and Finish Strategic Review of the Council’s Health and Wellbeing 
Priority 

Tbc Task and Finish/Workshop Development of locality working through Customer 
Connect 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

17
th

 August, 2018 

Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy 

 

Portfolio:   Environment Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 

Report Author: Sean Hall – Principal Environmental Protection Officer 

Joe Marriott – Environmental Health Officer 

Wards:  All 

Forward Plan: Included in the Forward Plan as published 24 July 2018 

 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 The report provides a Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy for South Lakeland District 
Council, which is required by statutory guidance to be adopted in support of the 
Councils Contaminated Land Strategy. 

1.2  The Policy will provide a framework for the Council to apply when recovering costs of 
remediation of contaminated land and prevent hardship on decisions made by the 
Council in respect of contaminated land. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 

(1) Review the Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy as attached at Appendix 
1, and; 

(2) Consider and agree any comments they would wish to be considered 
prior to the policy being presented to Cabinet for adoption. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Cabinet approved and adopted a revised contaminated land strategy in January, 
2017, to take account of revised statutory guidance. The revised strategy explains 
how the Council will undertake its statutory responsibilities under the contaminated 
land regime (Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). 

3.2 The Council is also required by statutory guidance to adopt a Cost Recovery and 
Hardship Policy that will support the Contaminated Land Strategy by providing a 
framework for the Council to apply when recovering costs for remediation.                      

3.3  The Council has a duty in respect of land determined as contaminated under Part IIA 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, to serve a remediation notice on each 
appropriate person specifying what they are to do by way of remediation. Before 
serving a remediation notice the guidance requires the Council to adopt a formal 
Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy. This Policy is attached as Appendix 1, and 
provides a framework to be applied when recovering costs for remediation.  

Page 29

Item No.8



3.4 The Policy details the appropriate persons and the decision making process. In 
addition it explains how the Council will seek to promote fairness, transparency and 
the need to prevent hardship when making decisions when determining financial 
responsibility for the remediation of contaminated land.  

3.5 The Policy was reviewed by Senior Management Team on the 2nd August, 2018.  

Further to consideration by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it is intended present 

to Cabinet for adoption on the 10th September, 2018. 

3.6 It is published in the Forward Plan as at 24th July, 2018.  

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 A public consultation for the revised Contaminated Land Strategy (which refers to a 
Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy) was undertaken in October, 2016, and no 
issues were raised from the general public, stakeholders and other partner agencies.  

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy is a necessary requirement when 
implementing the Councils Contaminated Land Strategy. Without a Policy the Council 
would have difficulty undertaking enforcement, making decisions on appropriate 
persons, and recovering the costs of remediation. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Economy - The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy enables the Contaminated Land 
Strategy to drive forward the priority of ‘enabling and delivering opportunities for 
sustainable economic growth’.  

 
6.2 Housing - The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy enables the Contaminated Land 

Strategy to link with ‘providing homes to meet need’; by facilitating regeneration of 
brownfield sites for housing and ensuring that they are suitable for their use. 

 
6.3 Environment - The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy enables the Contaminated 

Land Strategy to play an important part in ‘protecting our environment’, from pollution 
and harm to living organisms. 

 
6.4 Health and Well Being - The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy enables the 

Contaminated Land Strategy by ‘improving health and reducing health inequalities’; 
in particularly from determining the possibility of significant harm to human health. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 It is not proposed that the Council will engage on a proactive investigation of sites 
whilst central government funding for remediation is restricted. The Cost Recovery 
and Hardship Policy identifies relevant duties and powers in the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, and provides a framework for cost recovery decisions, 
applicable persons, costs incurred, and a decision making process. 

7.1.2 The cost of remediation will be met by the relevant responsible person(s), and the 
Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy provides a repayment mechanism, where 
extenuating circumstances exist.   

Human Resources 

7.2 The human resource impact from the Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy is met from 
existing staffing resources. 

 

Page 30



Legal 

7.3 The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy will not alter the level of legal support 
provided to Public Protection. Support is presently provided in respect of the 
Contaminated Land regime (Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990), 
which deals with the problems arising from contaminated land. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 A Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment is attached at 
Appendix 2.  

7.5 The attached Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment has 
only positive impacts. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic, and environmental impacts:  

The Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy provides a framework for fairness, 
transparency, and consistency in determining financial responsibility when recovering 
costs of remediation. It is a necessary supporting policy for the revised Contaminated 
Land Strategy adopted by the Council; which has positive impacts in respect of air 
quality, water quality and pollution, built environment, natural environment and 
diversity, energy consumption / efficiency, food production, employment, housing, 
access to leisure, and access to green space. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 No Equality Impact Analysis has been completed.     

7.8  The Policy seeks to promote fairness, transparency and the need to prevent hardship 
when making a decision with regards to determining financial responsibility for the 
remediation of contaminated land. Appropriate persons are defined by the legislation 
and the Policy does not create any differential impacts between equality groups.       

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Not adopting the Cost Recovery 
and Hardship Policy will leave 
South Lakeland District Council 
with a Contaminated Land 
Strategy which is not fit for 
purpose. 

This will prevent the 
Council fulfilling its duties 
under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. 

Adopt the Cost Recovery 
and Hardship Policy. 

Contact Officers 

Joe Marriott, Environmental Health Officer – joe.marriott@southlakeland.gov.uk   

01539 793290 

Sean Hall, Principal Environmental Protection Officer – sean.hall@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

Appendix 1 

Appendix 2 

Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment. 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Page 31

mailto:joe.marriott@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:sean.hall@southlakeland.gov.uk


Name of Background document Where it is available 

Contaminated Land Strategy 

 

 

Contaminated Land Statutory 
Guidance 2012 (Department 
for Environment Food and 
Rural Affairs). 

 

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-
environment/pollution/contaminated-land/ 

 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upload
s/attachment_data/file/223705/pb13735cont-land-
guidance.pdf 

 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services July, 2018. 

Section 151 Officer 2nd August (date of meeting) 

Monitoring Officer 2nd August (date of meeting) 

SMT 2nd August (date of meeting) 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director July, 2018. 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 2nd August, 2018. 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 17th August, 2018, (date of meeting). 

Executive (Cabinet) 10th September, 2018, (date of meeting). 

Council N/A 

 

Page 32

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-environment/pollution/contaminated-land/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-environment/pollution/contaminated-land/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223705/pb13735cont-land-guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223705/pb13735cont-land-guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223705/pb13735cont-land-guidance.pdf


South Lakeland District Council 
Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy 

(associated with the remediation of Contaminated Land under Part IIA of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990) 

 
 
1. Introduction 

 
This policy sets out the South Lakeland District Council position in regards to the 
possibility of waiving or reducing, the recovery of the costs of remediation, in respect 
of land determined as contaminated under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. It is recognised that there is likely to be a wide variety of situations 
associated with land contamination (including its history, ownership, and liability for 
its remediation); and that regard should be paid to the circumstances of each 
individual case.  
 
The legislation places a duty on the Council to inspect and identify contaminated land 
within its District. When land has been determined to be contaminated, and voluntary 
remediation cannot be secured within a reasonable time, the Council has a duty to 
serve a remediation notice on each person who is an appropriate person (that is, the 
person or persons who bear responsibility for anything which is to be done by way of 
remediation in any particular case); specifying what they are to do by way of 
remediation. Before serving a remediation notice the Contaminated Land Statutory 
Guidance, 2012, requires the Council to adopt a formal Cost Recovery and Hardship 
Policy. This Policy provides a framework for the Council to apply when recovering 
costs for remediation.  

 
The remediation notice details the requirements needed to remediate land, or 
otherwise manage the contamination, and sets out details of the contaminant(s) and 
those responsible for remediation . Those person(s) responsible for the pollution or an 
activity that has resulted in the determination of contaminated land, being liable for 
the cost of remediation. There are two main categories of persons that bear 
responsibility: Class A being persons who caused or knowingly permitted the relevant 
contaminated substance to be in, on, or under the land; and Class B persons being the 
current owners and occupiers when no person falling into Class A can be found.  There 
are circumstances where a person may be both a Class A and a Class B person. 
 
The Council will seek to promote fairness, transparency and the need to prevent 
hardship when making a decision with regards to determining financial responsibility 
for remediation of contaminated land.  
 

2.        Statutory Context  
 

2.1 Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (the Act) gives the Council a number 
of duties and powers in the identification of Contaminated Land.  These  are: 

 

 A duty to require remediation of land that has been determined as Contaminated 

Appendix 1 

Page 33



  Land (section.78E). 
 

 The power to determine who should bear responsibility for liabilities (section.78F). 
 

 A duty to consult with those who may be responsible for remediation (for at least 
three months), prior to serving a remediation notice. This is not required when it 
appears there is imminent danger of serious harm or pollution (section.78H). 

 

 The power to carry out remediation (section.78N). 
 

 The power to recover costs of remediation (section.78P). 
 
2.2 Reference to ‘Statutory Guidance’ in this policy means the following two documents: 

 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part IIA. Contaminated Land Statutory 
Guidance, 

 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, April 2012. 
 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part IIA. Contaminated Land - Radioactive 
 Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, Department of Energy and Climate 

Change, April 2012. 
 

2.3  Section 78P of the Act provides that: 
 
"(1)  Where, by virtue of section 78N(3)(a), (c), (e) or (f) the enforcing 

authority does any particular thing by way of remediation, it shall be entitled, 
subject to sections 78J(7) and 78K(6) to recover the reasonable cost incurred in 
doing it from the appropriate person or, if there are two or more appropriate 
persons in relation to the thing in question, from those persons in proportions 
determined pursuant to section 78F(7). 

 
(2)   In deciding whether to recover the cost, and, if so, how much of the cost, which it is 

entitled to recover under subsection (1) above, the enforcing authority shall have 
regard  

 
(a) to any hardship which the recovery may cause to the person from whom the 

cost is recoverable; and 
 
(b) to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the purposes of this 

subsection." 
 
2.4  Subsection 78H(5) provides that: 
 

"(5)   The enforcing authority shall not serve a remediation notice on a person if and so   
long as… (d) the authority is satisfied that the powers conferred on it by section 

                  78N below to do what is appropriate by way of remediation are exercisable..." 
 

Page 34



2.5 Section 78N(3) provides that the enforcing authority has the power to carry out 
remediation in the following cases:- 

“(a) where the enforcing authority considers it necessary to do anything itself by way 
of remediation for the purpose of preventing the occurrence of any serious harm, 
or serious pollution of controlled waters, of which there is imminent danger;  

(b) where an appropriate person has entered into a written agreement with the 
enforcing authority for that authority to do, at the cost of that person, that which 
he would otherwise be required to do under this Part by way of remediation;  

(c) where a person on whom the enforcing authority serves a remediation notice fails 
to comply with any of the requirements of the notice;  

(d)  where the enforcing authority is precluded by section 78J or 78K  from including 
something by way of remediation in a remediation notice;  

(e) where the enforcing authority considers that, were it to do some particular thing 
by way of remediation, it would decide, by virtue of subsection (2) of section 78P 
or any guidance issued under that subsection,—  

(i)  not to seek to recover under subsection (1) of that section any of the reasonable 
cost incurred by it in doing that thing; or  

(ii)  to seek so to recover only a portion of that cost;  

(f) where no person has, after reasonable inquiry, been found who is an appropriate 
person in relation to any particular thing.”  

 
2.6 These powers and duties are clarified in the Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, 

2012, which provides details on the administration of the Environmental Protection 
Act, 1990: Part IIA.  Section 8 of this Guidance provides direction to the Council on the 
extent to which it should seek to recover the costs of remediation. 

 
2.7 Section 8 of the Statutory Guidance gives further information on the treatment of 

persons or bodies which may be subject to cost recovery by the Council. 
 
2.8    This policy details the manner in which South Lakeland District Council will exercise the 

power in section 78P of the Act, with respect to persons found by them to bear a 
liability for remediation. In particular it details the manner in which it deals with issues 
of hardship. 

 
3.  Cost recovery decisions 
 
3.1   When making any decisions on cost recovery, the Council should have regard to the 

following general principles: 
 

 Aim for an overall result which is just, fair, and as equitable as possible to all who 
have to bear the financial burden of remediation, including national and local 
taxpayers. 

 

Page 35



 The Council should seek to recover all of its reasonable costs without causing any 
undue hardship which recovery may cause to the appropriate person(s). 

 

 Wherever possible, apply the "polluter pays" principle, whereby the costs of 
remediating pollution are borne by the polluter. 

 
All of the above issues will be considered alongside issues of hardship.  

 
3.2  Overall the Council should consider the degree and nature of responsibility for the 

creation, or continued existence, of the circumstances that led to the land in question 
being identified as Contaminated Land attributable to the appropriate person(s). 

 
3.3  In accordance with section 78F of Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 

an appropriate person is one who is determined to bear responsibility for anything 
which is to be done by way of remediation in any particular case. A Class A 
appropriate person is defined as someone who caused or knowingly permitted the 
presence of the substance (deemed to be contaminated land) in, on or under the land. 
A Class B appropriate person is defined as someone who owns or occupies the land in 
circumstances where no person falling within Class A can be found with respect to a 
particular remediation action. 

 
3.4  When deciding how much of the Council’s costs should be recovered, consideration 

can be given to whether greater costs can be recovered by deferring recovery and 
securing them by a charge on the land in question under section 78P of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. Such deferral may lead to payment from the 
appropriate person either in instalments (see section 78P(12)), or when the land is 
next sold. 

 
4.  Information for Making Decisions 
 
4.1  When making decisions on cost recovery, the Council should consider all relevant 

information provided by appropriate person(s). In addition the Council must also seek 
to obtain such information as is reasonable, having regard to: 

 

 accessibility of the information 
 

 the cost, for any of the parties involved, of obtaining the information 
 

 the likely significance of the information for any decision. 
 
4.2  Any appropriate person(s) who is seeking a waiver or reduction in the recovery of 

remediation costs are required to submit to the Council any relevant information to 
support this request within 28 days.  In the event that an appropriate person cannot 
achieve that timescale they should contact the Council setting out the reasons in 
writing why they cannot achieve this, and the Council will consider if it is reasonable to 
extend the timescale for the provision of information. 

 

Page 36



 
5.  Criteria against which hardship will be assessed 

 
5.1 There is no definition within the Statutory Guidance therefore in terms of this policy 

“hardship” is defined using its ordinary meaning, namely to cause severe suffering or 
privation. In deciding if a person would suffer hardship, the Council will apply the test 
of whether or not the hypothetical reasonable person would view a person to be in 
hardship.  

 
Where the cost of remediation attributable to an appropriate person would cause 
serious difficulties to that person then the Council will consider waiving or reducing 
the amount of costs it would seek to recover.  
 
 
Considerations Applying both to Class A & Class B Appropriate Persons 

 
6.  Commercial Enterprises 
 
6.1  Subject to the considerations detailed in this policy the Council will apply the same 

parity of approach to all types of commercial or industrial enterprises which are 
identified as appropriate persons. This applies whether the appropriate person is a 
public corporation, a limited company (whether public or private), a partnership 
(whether limited or not) or an individual operating as a sole trader. 

 
7.  Threat of Business Closure or Insolvency 
 
7.1  In the case of a small or medium-sized enterprise being, or being operated / controlled 

by, the appropriate person, the Council will consider: 
 

 whether recovery of the full cost attributable to that person would mean that the 
enterprise is likely to become insolvent and thus cease to exist; and 

 

 if so, the potential cost to the local economy of such a closure. 
 

For these purposes, a “small or medium-sized enterprise” should be taken to mean an 
independent enterprise which matches the definition of a “micro, small and medium-
sized enterprise” as established by the European Commission recommendation of 6 
May 2003, and any subsequent definition from time to time. Under the 2003 
definition this would cover any such enterprise with fewer than 250 employees, and 
either an annual turnover of no more than €50 million, or an annual balance sheet 
total of no more than €43 million. 

 
7.2  Where the cost of closure appears to be greater than the costs of remediation that the 

Council would have to bear themselves, the Authority is able to waive or reduce its 
costs recovery to the extent needed to avoid making the enterprise insolvent. 

 
7.3  The Authority will not normally waive or reduce its costs recovery where: 

Page 37



 

 it is satisfied that an enterprise has deliberately arranged matters so as to avoid 
responsibility for the costs of remediation; 

 

 it appears that the enterprise would be likely to become insolvent whether or not 
recovery of the full cost takes place; or 

 

 it appears that the enterprise could be kept in, or returned to, business even if it 
does become insolvent under its current ownership. 

 
8.  Trusts 
 
8.1  Where the appropriate person(s) includes any person acting as trustees, the 

Council will assume that such trustees will exercise all of their necessary powers, or 
powers that they may reasonably be able to obtain, to make funds available from 
either the trust or from borrowing that can be made on behalf of it, for the purpose of 
paying for the remediation. The Authority will, nevertheless, consider waiving or 
reducing its costs recovery to the extent that the costs of remediation to be recovered 
from the trustees would otherwise exceed the amount that can be made available 
from the trust to cover those costs. 

 
8.2  The Authority will not usually waive or reduce its costs recovery: 
 

 where it is satisfied that the trust was formed for the purpose of avoiding paying 
the costs of remediation; or 
 

 where the trustee(s) has personally benefited under the trust.  In such 
circumstances they will be treated as an individual.  

 
9.  Charities 
 
9.1  The Council will consider the extent to which any recovery of costs from a charity 

would detrimentally impact that charity’s activities. Where this would jeopardise the 
charity's ability to deliver its charitable purposes, the Authority will consider waiving 
or reducing its costs recovery to the extent needed to avoid such a consequence. This 
approach applies equally to charitable trusts and to charitable companies. 

 
10.  Social Housing Landlords 
 
10.1  The Council will consider waiving or reducing its costs recovery if: 
 

 the appropriate person is a body eligible for registration as a social housing 
landlord under section 2 of the Housing Act 1996 (for example, a housing 
association); 

 

 its liability relates to land used for social housing; and 
 

Page 38



 full recovery would lead to significant financial difficulties for the appropriate 
person, such that the provision or upkeep of the social housing would be 
jeopardised significantly. The extent of the waiver or reduction will normally be 
sufficient to avoid any such financial difficulties. 

 
Specific Considerations Applying to Class A Persons 
 
11.  General 
 
11.1  The Council will consider if the Class A person caused or knowingly permitted the 

contamination in the course of carrying on a business, and whether or not that person 
is likely to have financially benefited from the activity in question. If that person did 
financially benefit, the Council will generally be unlikely to waive or reduce the cost 
recovery than if no such financial benefit were made. 

 
12  Where Other Potentially Appropriate Persons have not been found 
 
12.1  In some cases where a Class A person has been found, it may be possible to identify 

another person who caused or knowingly permitted the presence of the significant 
contaminant in question, but who cannot now be found for the purposes of treating 
him as an appropriate person. For example, this might apply where a company has 
been dissolved. 

 
12.2  The Authority will consider waiving or reducing its costs recovery from a Class A 

person if that person demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Council that: 
 

 another identified person, who cannot now be found, also caused or knowingly 
permitted the significant contaminant to be in, on, or under the land; and 

 

 if that other person could be found, the Class A person seeking the waiver or 
reduction of the Authority’s costs recovery would either: 

 
o be excluded from liability by virtue of one or more of the exclusion tests set 

out in Section 7 of the Statutory Guidance, or 
o the proportion of the cost of remediation which the appropriate person has 

to bear would have been significantly less, by virtue of the guidance on 
apportionment set out in Section 7 of the Statutory Guidance. 

 
12.3  Where an appropriate person makes a request that the Council’s cost recovery be 

waived or reduced by virtue of this section, the Council will require that person to 
provide evidence that a particular person, who cannot now be found, caused or 
knowingly permitted the significant contaminant to be in, on, or under the land. The 
Council will not normally regard it as sufficient for the appropriate person concerned 
merely to state that such a person must have existed. 

 
 
 

Page 39



 
 
Specific Considerations Applying to Class B Persons 
 
13.  General 
 
13.1  Where a Class A person cannot be found or for any other reason costs cannot be 

recovered from a Class A person, financial responsibility transfers to the Class B 
person, because of their present ownership or occupation of land. 

14  Costs relative to land values 
 
14.1  In some cases, the costs of remediation may exceed the value of the land in its current 

use (as defined in Section 3 of the Statutory Guidance) after the required remediation 
has been carried out. In such circumstances, the Council will consider waiving or 
reducing its costs recovery from a Class B person if that person demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of the Authority that the costs of remediation are likely to exceed the 
value of the land. In this context, the "value" will be taken to be the value that the 
remediated land would have on the open market, at the time the cost recovery 
decision is made, disregarding any possible blight arising from the contamination. A 
minimum of two valuations will be required, and to be independently verified by an 
expert appointed by the Council, with costs of verification to be recovered by the 
Council. 

 
14.2  In general, the extent of the waiver or reduction in cost recovery will be sufficient to 

ensure that the costs of remediation borne by the Class B person do not exceed the 
value of the land after remediation has taken place. However, if the remediation 
would result in an increase in the value of any other land from which the Class B 
person would benefit, this will be taken into account when deciding the extent to 
which it should seek to recover its costs. 

 
15.  Precautions Taken before Acquiring a Freehold or a Leasehold Interest 
 
15.1  In some cases, the appropriate person may have been unaware that the land in 

question was, or might be, contaminated when they acquired it, or they may have 
decided to take a risk that the land was not contaminated. Conversely, precautions 
may have been taken to ensure that the person did not acquire land which is 
contaminated. 

 
15.2  The Council will consider reducing its costs recovery where a Class B person who is the 

owner of the land demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Authority that: 
 

 the person took such steps prior to acquiring the freehold  or the leasehold interest 
in the land, as would have been reasonable at that time to establish the presence 
of any contaminants; 

 

 when the person acquired the land, or accepted the grant of assignment of the 
leasehold, the person was nonetheless unaware of the presence of the significant 

Page 40



contaminant now identified, and could not reasonably have been expected to have 
been aware of its presence; and 

 

 it would be fair and reasonable, taking into account the interests of national and 
local taxpayers, that the person will not bear the whole cost of remediation. 

 
15.3  The Council will bear in mind that the safeguards which might reasonably be expected 

to be taken will be different in different types of transaction. For example, acquisition 
of recreational land as compared with commercial land transactions, and as between 
buyers of different types e.g. private individuals as compared with major commercial 
undertakings. 

 
16.  Payment of the Council’s costs 
 
16.1  In each case where the Council has used public funds to remediate land in its area, a 

decision will be taken by the Council - taking account of all circumstances pertaining to 
the matter - whether to recover any or all of the funds expended on a property in 
order to make it suitable for use. 

 
16.2  The Council will also consider how payment to the Council should be made. This could, 

for example, take the form of payment of the full amount within a fixed period, by 
instalments or by attaching a charge to the property so that it is recovered when the 
property is sold. In the latter case, the Council will consider whether it could recover 
more of the costs by deferring recovery and securing them by a charge on the land in 
question. 

 
17. Hardship Panel 
 

The Council's Hardship Panel will consider the cost recovery associated with 
remediation of contaminated land. 

 
17.1 The Hardship Panel will consist of: 
 

 Principal Environmental Protection Officer (Chair) 

 Financial Services Manager 

 Legal Officer 
 

Ordinarily the Panel meeting will be a face to face process, but an appropriate person 
can provide written evidence in lieu of attendance. Attendees must provide any 
written evidence at least 5 working days prior to the hearing.  
Any representations made by Ward members to the Panel should be in writing.  The 
Panel can receive technical support and advice from the Environmental Protection 
Team. 

17.2 A report will be provided for the Hardship Panel by Public Protection (similar format to 
a Licensing Committee report). The Panel will agree on the information required in 
order to assess the hardship of the responsible person(s). The Panel before making a 
decision will have regard to: 

Page 41



 - the guidance in this Policy and the Revised Statutory Guidance(April 2012)       

 - the report of the officer in the Environmental Protection Team 

 - any representations from the persons concerns 

 - any reports of experts 

 - any representation from the relevant Ward member 

 Below is a non-exhaustive list of examples of information the Council may ask for: 

 The value of the land on the open market [(the Council would expect at least two 
valuations to be obtained from estate agents/surveyors)]; 

 The value of the land disregarding the fact that it has been identified as 
contaminated by the Council; 

 The amount of debt secured on the land, a recent mortgage statement will be 
required; 

 Whether the land is held for investment ; 

 Whether the land is held for business or purely residential purposes; 

 Where the land is owned by a company the profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheets for a period of [3/5 years]; 

 Where the land is used for business purposes, details of the income generated 
through the use of the land and the costs involved; 

 Where the land is owned by an individual, details of the persons other 
assets/savings; 

 Where the land is owned by an individual, details of the person’s debts and income; 

 Where the land is owned and occupied by an individual, details of the persons 
incomings and outgoings; 

 Where the land is owned by a company, details of any insurance policies in place 
which cover the costs of the remediation of land; 

 The amount of capital available to the person, and whether there is sufficient 
capital to meet the cost; 

 

 The personal needs of the individual - health and age of the individual and the 
existence of dependents; 

 

 The assets of the person, and the ability of the person to raise finance against the 
assets 

 

 Whether the person is running a business on the land (i.e. gaining an income from 
the use of it by another person or carrying out a business activity on the land); 

 

 Where the person owns the contaminated land, whether the remediation is likely 

Page 42



to increase the value of the land by more than the cost of the remediation such 
that the person should be able to borrow against the land to raise the necessary 
finance; 

 

 The amount the person paid for the land and whether when they bought the land 
the price reflected the state of contamination; or 

 

 Any other relevant information which is applicable to the person and which may 
indicate that hardship would be caused. 

 
17.3 In each case, the Hardship Panel will make a decision as to what it considers is fair and 

reasonable in the circumstances. It will inform the appropriate person(s) of any cost 
recovery decisions taken, and explain the reasons for those decisions. The Hardship 
Panel will aim to make decisions within 3 weeks of being presented with all the 
relevant information. The decision of the Panel will be sent to the persons concerned 
within 1 week of the decision being made.  

 
17.4 If the person is aggrieved by the decision of the Panel, the person concerned may 

appeal that decision by informing the Council in writing within 21 days of the date of 
the decision document.  

                                                                  
An Appeals Panel will review evidence presented at the original Hardship Panel, the 
deliberations of that Hardship Panel, and any new representations.  They will consider 
the appeal and confirm, vary or quash the original decision. 
   
As well as presenting any original information the appellant is entitled to present 
relevant new information to the Panel.  
 

The Appeals Hardship Panel will consist of: 
 

 Chief Finance Officer 

 Public Protection Manager (Chair) 

 Solicitor to the Council 
 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________ 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



 South Lakeland District Council 

Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma 
 

Project, policy or programme: Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   

Environmental Conditions 
Air quality 

 

 
X 

   The Policy ensures 
that the Contaminated 
Land Strategy is fit for 
purpose thereby 
enabling the 
treatment of migrating 
gases from 
contaminated sites. 

Relevant sites can be 
addressed in order of 
priority, applying the 
polluter pays principle. 

Water quality and 
pollution 

 

 
X 

   The Policy ensures 
that the Contaminated 
Land Strategy can be 
implemented 
regarding leachate 
pollution in surface 
and ground water. 

Relevant sites can be 
addressed in order of 
priority, applying the 
polluter pays principle. 

Built environment 

 

 
X 

   The Policy ensures 
that the Contaminated 
Land Strategy 
facilitates the 
redevelopment of 
brownfield sites.   

Regeneration of 
brownfield sites and 
value is highly 
pertinent to the cost 
decisions in Policy 
framework. 

Natural environment 
and biodiversity 

 

 
X 

   The Policy ensures 
that the Contaminated 
Land Strategy is fit for 
purpose which often 
results in locations for 
woodland and leisure.  

Sustainable options to 
be considered in 
remediation.  

Energy 
consumption/efficiency 

 

 
X 

   Potential to facilitate 
energy generation at 
some sites e.g. gas to 
energy schemes. 

Policy considers 
income generation 
relevant to the  
recovery of costs. 

Noise 

 

  
X 

    

Transport 

 

  
X 

    

Recycling 

 

  
X 

    

Food production 

 

 
X 

   Contaminated sites 
may have potential to 
impact on allotments 
or agricultural sites.  

Policy provides for a 
holistic approach to 
the recovery of costs. 

Social and Economic Factors 
Employment  

X 
   The Policy takes full 

account of the threat 
The Policy assesses 
the cost to the local 

Appendix 2 

Page 45



Project, policy or programme: Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   
 to business closure 

and insolvency with 
implications for 
employment and 
future site usage.  

economy from any 
closure in the decision 
framework.  

Income 

 

X  
 

  The Policy takes 
account of incomes 
and turnover. 

Policy takes a holistic 
view of finances. 

Poverty 

 

X  
 

  The Policy takes 
account of ability to 
fund remediation 
against hardship. 

Regards to a person’s 
income, capital, and 
outgoings considered. 

Education, skills and 
training 

 

 X 
 

    

Housing 

 

 
X 

   The Policy takes 
account of trusts, 
social housing, and 
owner occupation. 

Upkeep and provision 
of housing is an 
important 
consideration. 

Crime 

 

X  
 

  The Policy framework 
considers criminality 
and negligence. 

The impact of crime 
upon an appropriate 
person is weighed 
against the polluter 
pays principle. 

Work environment 

 

  
X 

    

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing 
Nutrition and diet 

 

 X     

Physical activity 

 

 X     

Alcohol 

 

 X     

Drugs 

 

 X     

Risk taking behaviour 

 

 X     

Smoking 

 

 X     

Loneliness and 
isolation 

 

 X     

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health 
Communication 
methods 

 

 X     

Active travel  X     

Page 46



Project, policy or programme: Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   
 

Access to leisure 

 

 
 

X     

Access to culture 

 

 X     

Access to green 
spaces 

 

 X     

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Friday, 17 August 2018 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 1 
2018/19 

 

Portfolio:   Leader of the Council 

Report from:  Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 

Report Author: John Davies – Performance and Risk Officer 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 Monitoring the success of the Council Plan through scorecards informs 
improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an 
open and transparent way. Influenced by the three key values as set out in the 
current Council Plan, this report sets out the Council Plan Priorities and Measures of 
Success. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee note:- 

 (1) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; and 

 (2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1; and 

 (3) considers whether it wishes to make any recommendations to Cabinet
  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet 
the needs of residents and improve quality of life.  To help achieve our goals, we 
measure performance frequently.  The performance management process helps us 
to demonstrate how well we are doing. 

3.2 Benchmarking information is provided for quarter one each year and allows the 
Council to compare its own performance with that of fifteen other statistically similar 
Councils – using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Nearest 
Neighbours Model. Information is sourced from the Local Government Association.  

3.3 Summary of Performance  

Each Council Plan Priority has ‘Measures of success’ – allowing progress to be 
monitored. Detailed information for each of the measures is listed below.   

3.4 Economy - Measures of success 

Page 49

Item No.9



Measure: By 2025, we will achieve investment enabling the creation of 1,000 new 

jobs in the area.  

 Estimates show that the Council is on target to achieve 1000 new jobs in the 

area by 2025. Since 01/01/14 an estimated 453 new jobs have been created 

in South Lakeland. It is estimated that 45 new jobs were created in the 1st 

quarter of 2018/19 (Source: Estimate by Partnerships and Organisational 

Development.) 

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the 

rise of higher paid jobs and a year-on-year increase in the current median household 

income of £31,189 for people who live in South Lakeland.  

 For 2017 the median income varied across the districts, from the lowest in 

Barrow-in-Furness (£24,381) to the highest in South Lakeland (£32,506). The 

median household income in Cumbria was £27,633 and Great Britain was 

£30,921. (Source: Cumbria Intelligence Observatory.) 

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, in partnership with the district’s towns and 

villages, the council will ensure they maintain their distinctive character and thrive 

commercially by supporting and improving the business start-up rate of 90 per 10,000 

working population year-on-year. 

 During 2017 South Lakeland had the highest number of business start-ups 

per 10,000 working age residents at 86.7. This compares to 65.5 for Cumbria 

and 108.0 for England. The number of start-ups per 10,000 working age 

people is sometimes regarded as an indicator of entrepreneurship amongst 

local residents. (Source: Cumbria Intelligence Observatory.) 

 The total number of business units in South Lakeland has increased from 

6850 in 2013 to 7385 in 2017 and surpasses a previous high of 7060 units in 

2010. (Source: National Office for Statistics) 

3.5 Housing - Measures of success 

The Council’s Housing Strategy 2016-2025 describes the housing issues within 
South Lakeland. 
 
Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the development of 

1,000 new affordable homes to rent.  

 During quarter four a total of 7 new affordable homes for rent have been 

completed giving a cumulative total of 407 since 01/01/14. This means that 

the Council is on target to deliver the 1,000 new affordable homes for rent by 

2025. (Source: Strategic Housing and Building Control.) 

Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector and housing 
associations, an average of 60 completed permanent dwellings each quarter.  

 
 In 2017 there were 60 permanent dwellings completed in Q1, 50 in Q2, 60 in 

Q3, 40 in Q4 and 80 in Q1 2018. Since 2015 the Council has enabled the 

Page 50



completion of 820 permanent dwellings – an average of greater than 63 over  

13 quarters. (Source: DCLG Live tables on house building: table 253a) 

Measure:  By 2025, the number of long-term empty homes, currently 827, will have 

reduced by 20%. 

 The number of long term empty homes has steadily reduced from 1079 in 

2011 to 827 in 2016 and 973 in 2017. The number of long term empty homes 

will fluctuate as they are brought back into use and as properties become 

empty. (Source: DCLG tables on housing: table 615) 

Measure: Between 2015 and 2019, the council through targeted interventions will, 

year on year, bring a minimum of 70 empty homes back into use. 

 Since 2015 the Council has brought 201 empty homes back into use. 

Updated information for 2017/18 will be available for Quarter Two reporting. 

Measure: During 2018/19 the number of homeless households living in temporary 

accommodation will be no more than 20 at any one time. 

 The maximum of households in temporary accommodation at any one time 

was 18 in Quarter Three 2017/18, 17 in Quarter Four 2017/18 and 18 in 

Quarter One 2018/19. Records show that this target has been met for at least 

the last 5 years.  (Source: Housing Options Team) 

3.6 Environment - Measures of success 

Measure: By 2019, the amount of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 

composting will increase from 43% to 50%. During the same period the range of 

recyclables will be widened. 

 For 2017/18 provisionally 44.4% of waste has been recycled which is a 

significant increase on 42.4% for 2016/17. Plastic and cardboard kerbside 

collection covers 100% of households. (Source: Street Scene) 

Measure: By 2019, the amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse, 

recycling and composting will have reduced from the current baseline of 511kg per 

household 

 South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to 

landfill. The residual waste is processed to provide refuse derived fuel for 

large industrial processes. In line with other councils residual waste includes 

grey bin waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources. 

The tonnage of street sweepings varies significantly each year and therefore 

impacts on residual waste totals. The level of residual waste is measured in 

kilos of waste per household per year: 2013/14 480kg, 2014/15 470kg, 

2015/16 495kg, 2016/17 511kg and a provisional 468kg for 2017/18. Grey bin 

waste on its own has fluctuated from 444kg in 2007/8 to 479kg in 2009/10 to 

a reduced 399kg in 2017/18. (Source: Street Scene) 

Page 51



Measure: Between 2015 and 2019 the council will, year on year, have reduced its 

operational carbon footprint by 100 tonnes of carbon, from a baseline of 2,869 

tonnes. 

 For 2017/18 the total for carbon emitted was 2992 tonnes – a reduction of 170 

tonnes from 3162 tonnes at 31/03/15. As well as reducing emissions the 

Council prevents 5500 tonnes of emissions by reusing, recycling and 

composting nearly all of the waste collected across the District. (Source: 

Partnerships and Organisational Development) 

3.7 Culture and wellbeing - Measures of success 

Measure: By 2019, through collaborative and preventative action the level of self-

reported general health of South Lakeland’s residents will demonstrate an 

improvement above the baseline of 70% as reported in the Quality of Life Survey. 

 The Quality of Life Survey 2017 shows that 72% of residents reported good or 

very good health. (Source: Partnerships and Organisational Development) 

Measure: By 2025, the health inequality gap for residents in South Lakeland’s 18 

most deprived communities will be narrowed resulting in the improved healthy life 

expectancy above the national average of 81 years. 

 Life expectancy from birth has improved consistently for many years to 81.5 
years in 2016 and is better than NW or England. (Data source: Public Health 
England) 

 Health related quality of life for older people has fluctuated from a score of 
0.772 in 2012/13 to a slightly improved score of 0.778 in 2016/17. Annual 
results for the previous six years are better than the North West and England. 

 Results for 2015 show that in South Lakeland there are 4 Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA’s) in the 30% most health deprived LSOAs in England. Within 
Cumbria only Eden is better with only 1 area in the 30% most deprived. 
LSOAs are a set of geographies designed specifically for statistical purposes. 
LSOAs have an average population of 1,600 people. (Source: Cumbria 
Observatory) 

Measure: By 2019, the overall level of reported crime will not exceed the 2014/15 

level of 3,425. 

 During Quarter One 2017/18 there were 993 crimes, Q2 963, Q3 1011 and 

Q4 1100 – a total of 4067 crimes for 2017/18. Q1 2018/19 saw 1371 crimes 

reported and is a significant increase compared with Q1 2017/18, this 

increase is explained by Police training around the recording of crimes. 

(Source: Cumbria Constabulary) 

3.8 Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1 

All strategic risks in their current stage of development are visible within appendix 1. 
There are 4 strategic risks above the Council’s tolerance for risk and these are being 
managed effectively.  The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk 
management arrangements.  

Page 52



Risks summary this quarter 

Total number of risks: 14  

New risks: 0 

Archived Risks: 0 

Risks above tolerance:  4 (reviewed every quarter) 

Risks below tolerance:   10 - over 70% of risks are now below tolerance. 
(reviewed annually at Quarter 4) 

 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the 
Council Plan.  These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being 
adopted by Full Council. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update. 
The Council must note successes, monitor progress and take action where 
appropriate. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Reporting measures of success contained within the Council Plan 2014-2019. 

6.2 The report is directly linked to the following Council Plan commitment to ensure that 
the Council is equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services. 

6.3 Details regarding performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s 
current Performance Management Framework. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic 
risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: 
Reporting performance has a positive impact on health, social, economic and 
environmental needs. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: No negative 
impacts. 

Page 53



Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: 
Reporting performance has a positive impact on equality and diversity needs. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: No negative impacts. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

For indicators and performance 
measures not to be monitored, 
corrective action is not identified 
early. 

Ambitions as set out in the 
Council Plan are not 
achieved. 

Recommendations for 
corrective action are 
implemented. 

Good performance is not 
acknowledged. 

Poor morale and 
performance culture. 

Successes are recognised 
and celebrated. 

Contact Officers 

Report Author – John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333, 
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
Appendices Attached to this Report 

(delete if no appendices attached) 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Strategic Risk Register 

2 Benchmarking 

Background Documents Available 

  

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Detailed Performance information 
– South Lakeland 

South Lakeland Website 

Council Plan – South Lakeland South Lakeland Website 

Performance Management 
Framework – South Lakeland 

South Lakeland Website 

Risk Management Arrangements 
– South Lakeland 

South Lakeland Website 

Description of Nearest 
Neighbours Model - CIPFA  

CIPFA Website 

Benchmarking data - Local 
Government Association 

Local Government Association Website 

Economy data - Office for 
National Statistics Official Labour 
Market Statistics 

Office for National Statistics Website 

Page 54

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/performance-measures/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
http://www.cipfastats.net/default_view.asp?content_ref=8193
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=185&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157080/report.aspx?#idbr


Name of Background document Where it is available 

Health data - Public Health 
England Public Health Outcomes 
Framework 

Public Health England Website  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 06/06/2018 

Section 151 Officer 06/06/2018 

Monitoring Officer 06/06/2018 

SMT 02/08/2018 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 24/05/2018 

Human Resources Manager 06/06/2018 

Communications Team 06/06/2018 

Leader 02/08/2018 

Committee Chairman 02/08/2018 

Portfolio Holder 02/08/2018 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 17/08/2018 

Executive (Cabinet) 10/09/2018 

Council N/A 

 

Page 55

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/101/are/E07000031/iid/92311/age/1/sex/4


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Appendix 1 
 

1 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 1, 2018/19 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, 
prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for 
money and also continuity of services.  
 
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are 
considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could have a wide impact or require senior management control. 
 
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Senior Management Team. Risks above the line of tolerance are a priority and 
so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below tolerance are reviewed once a year. 
 
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time. 
 
Page 2 and 3 of this report explain the risk matrix and layouts used for the risks. 
 
Page 4 provides a Risk ‘Heat Map’ which provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks – those currently in the blue zone and so above the line of 
risk appetite/tolerance. 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 57



Appendix 1 
 

2 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 

How to understand the Risk Matrix: 
 
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show degree of likelihood and 
impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority for management. Those risks which lay above the line of risk appetite (risk 
tolerance) can be seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk 
appetite, in the green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.
 

 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

  

x 
 

Low 

 

x 
  

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are a 
high priority and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.  
 

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are 
lower priority and require an annual review in Quarter 
Four. 
 

P
age 58



Appendix 1 
 

3 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

How to understand the layout of each risk in this report 
 

  

Risk No. & Name 
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk 
 
Description 
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the future 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations. 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

A mitigation is an action which is designed 
to reduce or eliminate the risk.  The 
mitigation can improve the likelihood or 
impact of the risk. 

A short update on progress made 
with the mitigation 

The person responsible for 
progressing the mitigation 

Mitigations should be implemented 
by their due dates for the risk to be 
improved effectively. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown: 
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  a risk review indicates that there is now less risk 
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑  =  a risk review indicates that there is now more risk 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔  =  a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk 
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  a newly identified risk is entered onto this register 

  Risk Owner The person with sufficient authority to control this risk  Portfolio the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to  

 

P
age 59



Appendix 1 
 

4 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report 
 
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk 
appetite/tolerance. 

 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

High 

    

Medium 

 Risk 5, Risk 6, 9, 14, 
15, 

 

Low 

 Risk 2, 13, 18 Risk 4, 7, 8, 12  

Very 
Low 

   Risk 16, 17 

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Over 70% of risks are now 
positioned in the green 
zone - below the line of risk 
appetite/tolerance 

P
age 60



Appendix 1 
 

5 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Strategic Risks Register 
 

  Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 

  

Risk 2 

Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required 
within the contract fee agreed. 
 
Description 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change as the Council has three new major contracts. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  Review indicates that the current risk remains the same in terms of likelihood and impact. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Directors Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 61



Appendix 1 
 

6 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Risk 3 was archived during quarter 1 2018/19 
 
 

  

Risk 4 
Affordable housing targets are not met. 
 
Description 
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we 
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable 
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open 
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the 
district. Performance is influenced by New Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 
 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk will be retained on the register to allow regular monitoring.  

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 62



Appendix 1 
 

7 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 5 
Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities 

 
Description 
Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts - resulting in 
significant changes to taxes and benefits. Universal Credit may have an impact on the 
level of benefits. Welfare reform therefore impacts on low-income tenants and social 
landlords. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The risk will be retained on the risk register whilst there is a potential for impacts. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Culture, Wellbeing and Leisure Portfolio 

P
age 63



Appendix 1 
 

8 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 6 
Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget 
 
Description 
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not 
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. Other key factors are the 
Spending Review 2019-2022, Business Rates Retention, the Second Homes agreement 
with Cumbria County Council and the Fair Funding Review. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
Annual – end of March 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and 
reported on a quarterly basis 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151) 

Each quarter 

Options to resolve any issues are provided to 
the Cabinet each quarter 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151). Assistant Directors 
Directors 

Each quarter 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The annual statutory requirement has been met however longer term goals will require continuous 
monitoring. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however uncertainty over future funding may influence future risk 
position. 
02/08/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates that no change is required to the position of this risk on the risk matrices. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 64



Appendix 1 
 

9 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 7 
Information Management is not effective 
 
Description 
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and 
controls - including GDPR and the Data Protection and Information Security Policies. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/12/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Continue to reinforce key standards and 
policies via regular communication. Ensure 
Managers are appropriately trained and 
requirements are clearly set out in Job 
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals. 
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in 
a timely manner. 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 
in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017 
 
Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018. 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 
 

31/12/18 

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to 
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular 
review and monitoring of arrangements 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

31/12/18 

P
age 65



Appendix 1 
 

10 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

across services by Operational Managers 
supported by Information Security/ 
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships 
and ICT. 

in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017. 
 
Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018. 

The Information Governance (IG) Framework 
was approved by Cabinet on 16 September 
2015 and provides the structure to govern 
how the Council captures, creates, accesses, 
secures, manages and shares its information 
both internally and externally. In line with 
Customer Connect Programme, the Council 
had to its approach to information 
governance. 

This mitigation added on 07/06/17  
 
In order to implement the 
Information Governance Framework 
it is proposed that a learning 
package deliverable is created. 
It is proposed that the learning 
package deliverable will be 100% e-
learning.  Scope will be provided to 
design and develop workbooks for 
those members of staff without 
access to ICT equipment. 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

31/12/18 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.  
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Mitigation due dates updated in line with Information Governance Board Highlights Report 
14/12/17. This risk is remains within risk tolerance. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - review indicates no change at this time, relevant mitigations are in place. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 66



Appendix 1 
 

11 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 8 
The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is 
not provided. 
 
Description 
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives. 
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for 
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with 
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be 
reported to Cabinet.  
Update 21/12/16: approach to 
meeting education needs in Kendal 
being worked up by Cumbria County 
Council. Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
will be reported to Cabinet in March 
2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed. Updated Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan reported to Cabinet on 
September 13th. Significant progress 
on infrastructure delivery including: 
• Kendal highways and transport 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed 13/09/17 

P
age 67



Appendix 1 
 

12 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

improvements (£3.4m) 
• Ulverston junction improvements 
(£4.5m) including access to Lightburn 
Road employment site through Blue 
Light Hub. 
• The development of a funding 
package to deliver a new roundabout 
at Swarthmoor to enable housing 
development at Swarthmoor and 
Croftlands. 

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet 
Update 21/12/16: CIL Governance 
Protocols will be reported with 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to 
Cabinet in March 2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed. CIL Governance 
arrangements approved by Cabinet 
on September 13th. 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed 13/09/17 

CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process. 

To be undertaken when draft 
Development Management policies 
are consulted upon in Autumn 2016.  
Update 21/12/16: Viability study 
scheduled for mid 2017 – will update 
viability position in relation to 
affordable housing, CIL and impact of 
Development Management policies. 
Update 04/04/17: Viability study 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/03/18 
 
Completed 

P
age 68



Appendix 1 
 

13 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Commisioned. 
Update 13/03/18: Viability study 
completed. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. There has been positive progress and further collaboration with 
partners on infrastructure needs is required. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Updated evidence, in support of the new development management policies, on viability has 
concluded that development can support current levels of CIL. The results of examination will inform the future position of this risk. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 69



Appendix 1 
 

14 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 9 
Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan 
do not operate effectively. 
 
Description 
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource 
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to 
achieve Council Plan objectives. 
The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into 
Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new strategic partnerships to be 
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit 
from any changes. This risk applies to all our strategic partnerships, such as the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), CCC, LDNPA and Morecambe Bay Economic Partnership 
as examples. The risk is not specific to any one initiative or approach from partner 
organisations, rather the strategic direction and policies that they take and make, and 
their correlation to SLDC achieving its aims and objectives through its Council Plan. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Monitor resource, cost and reputational 
impact with established strategic partnerships 

No cost implications to the council in 
maintaining partnerships 

CEX 31/03/19 annual review 
 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  There is a meeting planned for political leaders and officers within the 1st qtr of 2017/18 to raise 
and discuss this issue across partners and Morecambe Bay authorities. A governance review of the Cumbria LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) is 
also underway. Positive collaborative relationships are being seen with Cumbria County Council locally, with Joint Districts in Cumbria, and now as 
a partner in the Northern Powerhouse Partnership at an Officer level. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. Risk description updated to include additional 
examples of strategic partnerships. 

P
age 70



Appendix 1 
 

15 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. There have been recent developments that 
may affect our essential partnerships in helping delivery of the Council Plan 2014-19. This includes 1. Local Government reorganisation and 2. 
Morecambe Bay Economic Partnership - further political and managerial influence is required to ensure that one of the partners keeps upto date 
with actions. 

  Risk Owner Chief Executive  Portfolio Leader and Finance Portfolio 

P
age 71



Appendix 1 
 

16 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

  Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 
 

Risk 12 
Health and Safety management of contracts – records for on site 
checks 

 
Description of risk 
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led 
contracts. Officers that are managing contractors are required to make safety checks 
and keep records. Safety checks should be proportional to risk.  

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Annually in quarter 4 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
Target met 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Contracts Management Health and Safety 
training is provided 

Completed Principle Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Officer 

09/04/15 
Completed 

Officer leads carry out onsite H&S monitoring 
which is proportionate to the risk 

ongoing All staff managing contracts Ongoing requirement 

Officer led contracts are subject to spot 
checks for onsite monitoring records. 

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment 
indicates that evidence exists for 
H&S checks 
Q3 2016/17: A second assessment 
identifies training needs 

All managers with contracts. 
 

Completed. 

Promote training on active monitoring Building/property and all external 
contractors to be involved in the 
training. 
Further training ‘Control of 

All Managers with contracts 13/04/17, further training sessions 
to be completed by end of Qtr 1 
2017/18.  
Completed 24/10/17. 

P
age 72



Appendix 1 
 

17 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Contractors’ completed on 
24/10/17. 

Further spot checks to be made for records of 
onsite contractor safety 

Mitigation added following SMT 
review on 06/07/17. 
Completed 
 

Performance and Risk Officer 01/10/17 
Completed 

A further review will be completed by 
Assistant Directors in October 2017 

Mitigation added 12/10/17. 
Update 05/04/18: Completed 

Assistant Directors 01/11/2017 
Completed 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ – impact reduced to reflect completion of training however likelihood increased to maintain the risk 
position as above tolerance ensuring regular quarterly reviews - and the focus on spot checks for evidence of on site safety monitoring. Risk name 
updated for the focus on records of onsite checks – likelihood medium and impact serious. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Additional mitigation added. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Review is near completion and indicating positive results - will 
inform quarter four update. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  Review indicates that this risk has now reduced in terms of likelihood to target position. Risk is 
reduced due to health and safety performance, training provided and availability of resources. This risk is now below tolerance and will be 
reviewed annually during quarter four. 

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Finance Portfolio 

 
 

P
age 73



Appendix 1 
 

18 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Risk 13 
Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan 
priorities 

 
Description of risk 
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other 
projects and initiatives currently in the programme.  

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Ensure that potential new projects and 
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment 
which measures their priority 

Completed and ongoing 
requirement. 
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the 
assessment and prioritisation of new 
projects – review in six months. 
Update 18/01/18: the assessment 
and prioritaisation of projects is an 
ongoing requirement. 
 

Director of People and Places Ongoing requirement 
 
 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.  
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however to be reviewed at quarter three subject to prioritisation 
of resources. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Review indicates that likelihood is low with existing controls. Controls will continue to be applied 
including prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

P
age 74



Appendix 1 
 

19 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

Risk 14 
Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes 
 
Description of risk 
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service or another organisation 
can have unintended negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another 
service – especially if proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These 
impacts can increase the cost of running other services. Focus required on the expiry 
of the Second Homes agreement between Cumbria County Council and South 
Lakeland District Council. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  x  

    

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

 
Next Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

This risk is managed via the Service Planning 
and Budgeting processes.  

Completed Operational Managers 
Senior Management Team 

Mitigations in place within 
existing Service Planning and 
Budgeting processes. 

Promote early discussions on potential change 
with external parties 

New mitigation on 10/11/16 
06/07/17: Mitigations underway and 
ongoing 

Director of People and Places 
 

In place and ongoing requirement 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations are in progress. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – this risk is linked to ‘Risk 15: Customer Connect’. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change due to period of organisational change and ongoing partnership 
discussions. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change for the reasons listed previously at Q4 2017/18. Target date reviewed 
and set to 31/03/2019. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 
 

P
age 75



Appendix 1 
 

20 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 15 
Customer Connect Programme 
 
Description 
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and 
customer contact strategy. 
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change 
to ways of working for staff across the Council. The Programme Board manages 
the Customer Connect Risk Log on a regular basis. Mitigations are in place for 
the risks and the main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition, 
Staff resources and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from 
Customers and Training and development for staff and Councillors. 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

The programme is being managed via the 
Programme Board with resources 
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the 
programme. 

Financial resources are set aside 
for the programme, but there is a 
requirement to identify all the 
staff needed over the next two 
years to support the projects 
 
Update 07/06/17: In May 2017 
membership of the Programme 
Boards was revised and updated 
to reflect the additional roles 
required to deliver the various 
projects within the programme.   
 
Update 05/06/18: An external 
partner is providing assurance to 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager 

01/07/2017 
Completed 

P
age 76



Appendix 1 
 

21 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

the programme using experience 
gained from similar 
transformation programmes. 
 
Update: 05/07/18: Revised 
business case to be considered by 
Cabinet on 18/07/18 and Council 
on 24/07/18. This sets out a 
number of risks which will be 
managed as part of the 
programme. 

There is a risk log for the programme SMT have ownership of all the 
risks and identified mitigations -  
completed. 

Projects & Innovation Officer 15/04/2018 
Completed 

All risks on the Customer Connect risk log 
were updated during April 2018. The risks 
are reviewed at each Board meeting and 
are managed accordingly. 

All risks above the line are being 
managed and have mitigations in 
place to reduce the likelihood.  
The Senior Responsible Owner 
has taken direct responsibility for 
managing the partnership 
arrangements with Eden.  

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager  

Reviewed weekly by the 
Programme Board 
 

  

History  
of Risk Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations updated. 

  
Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation - Senior 

Responsible Owner. 
Portfolio Housing & Innovation  and Council Organisation and 

People  

 

P
age 77



Appendix 1 
 

22 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 16  
Waste Collection – Reversing Manoeuvres 
 
Description 
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds. 
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in 
place including the following: 
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in 
place. 
All drivers and crews have been trained. 
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to. 
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and 
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

   x 
Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter when above the line of 
risk tolerance 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

   X 

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/17 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe 
System of Work, inspections and the 
utilisation of risk reducing technologies. 

In progress and reviewed by the 
Street Scene Health and Safety 
Working Group on a quarterly 
basis 

Street Scene Manager Ongoing requirement 

Commission specialist support to assist in 
the completion of a further review of 
vehicle movements including reversing on 
private drives, private roadways and 
narrow access highways  

Update 17/11/16: Support 
commissioned and interim report 
received. Considering key actions 
for the service within operational 
health and safety plans. 
Completed. 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/16 
Completed. 

Implement the priority findings of the 
above review  

Specific Action plan has been 
developed to implement the 
findings of the review. High 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/17 
Completed. 

P
age 78



Appendix 1 
 

23 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Priority Areas have been 
identified and the 
implementation of necessary 
changes commenced and planned 
for completion by amended due 
date of 31/12/17. 
Completed. 

Implement the lower priority findings of 
the above review 

Planned for completion by 
31/12/17.  
Update 15/01/18: lower priority 
findings will now be completed by 
31/03/18. 
Update 13/03/18: Now complete. 
There will be an ongoing review 
of all manoeuvres as part of 
business as usual arrangements. 

Street Scene Manager 13/03/18 
Completed 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Many of the reviews are completed however there are a small 
number outstanding as this involves a policy change to collection points and methods, and these are not just reversing issues. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – work is in progress. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - All Ulverston rounds have been assessed and mitigating measures introduced. Results have 
been provided to the Health and Safety Committee 15th January 2018. Some lower priority areas remain pending with completion expected 
before end March 2018. Risk position remains the same until all reversing manoeuvres are assessed and mitigating measures have been 
implemented as required. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - ↓ - Review indicates that risk has been reduced to the target position due to completed mitigations. 
Decision made not to archive risk in order to maintain awareness.  

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio 

 

P
age 79



Appendix 1 
 

24 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 

Risk 17 
Cyber Security incident 
 
Description 
There have been many high profile examples of cyber security breaches across 
the World and in the UK recently. The Council has effective security in place to 
protect data and deliver services - however threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated and organisations need to be one step ahead. Cyber-attacks can 
cross international boundaries and may be initiated by organised criminal 
groups, lone individuals or be state sponsored. Cyber criminals are broadening 
their efforts towards UK citizens, organisations and institutions. Terrorists are 
conducting low-level attacks and aspire to carry out more significant acts. 
Examples of threats are Botnets, Distributed denial-of-service, Hacking, 
Malware, Pharming, Phishing, Ransomware and Spam. 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

   x 
Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Quarter Four each year 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

  x  

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Cyber security actions within the ICT Risk 
Register  

Cyber security actions are on 
track 

Shared IT Service Manager In line with cyber security due dates  

Review of Insurance  Mitigation added 12/10/17 
Update 15/01/18: Predicted 
complete by 31/01/18 for 
insurance renewal deadline. 

Financial Services Manager Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

31/12/17 
Completed 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  Audit Committee of 26/07/17 suggested that the Information management risks should be split to create this separate risk 
for Cyber Security. Agreed on 08/08/17 by the Monitoring Officer. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates likelihood very low and impact critical. Additional insurance mitigation 
added. ICT maintains up to date software patches. Staff have guidance on how to keep IT Networks Secure and what to do if a virus or malware is 
suspected. 

P
age 80



Appendix 1 
 

25 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - The risk remains very low. ICT continue to maintain security related Microsoft updates, virus 
software updates and follow industry best practice. Business Continuity arrangements are strengthened.  

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

 

P
age 81



Appendix 1 
 

26 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 18 
Potential reduction in income from the disposal of 
recyclable materials as a consequence of market changes 
affected by China’s waste policy 
 
Description 
China has made a decision to receive only very low contaminated recycled 
waste. As a consequence there will be very large quantities of waste across 
the UK and other international countries that will not be eligible for sending 
to China. Without an alternative outlet for large quantities of contaminated 
recyclable waste the value of this waste will fall significantly. South Lakeland 
District Council’s waste collection approach is to separate recyclables in a 
way that mitigates against contamination and maintains a high quality 
product so may be less affected by new policy from China. The 
advantageous position that South Lakeland has is confirmed in a recent 
APSE report. However the income provided from waste recycling is 
significant and would have a large impact on services should it be reduced 
drastically. 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Quarter Four each year 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

  

  Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

  

The Council already has legally 
compliant, waste recycling processes in 
place that minimise contamination. 

Complete and in place Assistant Director Neighbourhood 
Services 

Complete and in place 

  

The Council continues to maintain a high 
profile message to residents to avoid 
contamination of recyclable materials 
placed out for collection. 

Ongoing Community and Leisure Manager with 
assistance from Communications Team 

Ongoing 

P
age 82



Appendix 1 
 

27 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/07/2018 
Quarter: 1, 2018/19 
 

  
History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  This risk identified by Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services and Community and Leisure Manager. Risk 
prepared for escalation from operational level to Senior Management Team and approved for inclusion on the Strategic Risks Register. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio 

 
 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 84



1 
 

Appendix 2 
 

South Lakeland District Council 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
17 August 2018 

 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring, Quarter 1 2018/19 

 
Benchmarking 2018/19 

 
This document contains benchmarking information for Quarter One 2018/19 
supplementing the Council Plan Performance Monitoring report for the same period. 
 
This benchmarking information shows how the council compares with similar 
councils across the UK. All this information is publicly available at Local 
Government Association 
 
Similar councils are the CIPFA ‘nearest neighbour’ models for South Lakeland. 
CIPFA is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 
 
The information has been updated to show the latest results.  
 
The graphs are visually effective for comparative purposes. 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER  
 

Report Author - John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 793263, 
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk    

Page 85

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=122&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=122&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours
mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk


2 
 

Residual household waste per household in South Lakeland 
   

Residual household waste per household - This is the number of kilograms of residual household waste 

collected per household. Residual waste is any collected household waste that is not sent for reuse, recycling or 

composting. This was previously reported as NI 191. 

Source name: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Collection name: Municipal Waste Management Statistics 

Polarity: Low is good 

Link to latest data 

 
Commentary:  

South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to landfill. The residual waste is 

processed to provide refuse derived fuel for large industrial processes. In line with other councils residual waste 

includes grey bin waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources. The tonnage of street 

sweepings varies significantly each year and therefore impacts on residual waste totals. The level of residual 

waste is measured in kilos of waste per household per year: 2013/14 480kg, 2014/15 470kg, 2015/16 495kg, 

2016/17 511kg and a provisional 468kg for 2017/18. Grey bin waste on its own has fluctuated from 444kg in 

2007/8 to 479kg in 2009/10 - to a reduced 399kg in 2017/18. 

Plastic and card collections have reduced residual waste tonnage in 2017/18 to 468kg per household. This is 

the lowest level of residual waste per household for at least 5 years. The introduction of plastic and card has 

significantly increased the tonnage of recyclables collected in the last 3 years. The overall tonnage of 

recyclables collected has increased from 5,874 tonnes in 2015/16 to 6,815 tonnes in 2017/18.  

  

  

SLDC = 468kg in 2017/18 

SLDC Trend: 

2013/14: 480kg 

2014/15: 470kg 

2015/16: 495kg 

2016/17: 511kg 

2017/18: 468kg 

 

Page 86

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=45&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=45&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


3 
 

Median gross weekly pay of employees working in the area (work 
base) in South Lakeland 
   

Median gross weekly pay of employees working in the area (work base) - Several measures of earnings are 

available. The one used here, as the most appropriate indicator of average earnings, is median gross weekly 

pay of full-time employees on a workplace basis. This measure is taken from the Annual Survey of Hours and 

Earnings (ASHE). This was previously reported as NI 166. 

Source name: Nomis 

Collection name: annual survey of hours and earnings - resident analysis 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data shows that in South Lakeland people who work here earn £478.40 per week 

compared to £505.50 across 15 similar councils. 

 

 
  

SLDC Trend: 

2014: £421.40 

2015: £449.00  

2016: £484.20 

2017: £478.40 

 

Page 87

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=38&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=38&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


4 
 

Median gross weekly pay of employees by residence (resident 
base) in South Lakeland 
   

Median gross weekly pay of employees by residence (resident base) - Several measures of earnings are 

available. These figures show the median gross weekly pay for full time employees living in the area who are on 

adults rates of pay and whose pay was not affected by absence. Figures for earnings come from the Annual 

Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) which is based on a 1 per cent sample of employees, information on 

whose earnings and hours is obtained from employers. The survey does not cover people who are self-

employed. Information relates to a pay period in April. The earnings information collected relates to gross pay 

before tax, national insurance or other deductions, and excludes payments in kind (i.e. payment made in the 

form of goods and services rather than cash). It is restricted to earnings relating to the survey pay period and so 

excludes payments of arrears from another period made during the survey period; any payments due as a 

result of a pay settlement but not yet paid at the time of the survey will also be excluded. 

Source name: Nomis 

Collection name: annual survey of hours and earnings - resident analysis 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data shows that in South Lakeland people who live here but do not necessarily work 

here earn £536.90 per week compared to £531.40 across 15 similar councils. 

 

  

SLDC Trend: 

2014: £493.80 

2015: £519.40 

2016: £544.10 

2017: £536.90 

 

Page 88

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=168&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=168&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion_NorthWest&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup


5 
 

Percentage of adults smoking (annual) in South Lakeland 
   

Percentage of adults smoking (annual) - This indicator shows the prevalence of smoking, as a percentage of 

the adult resident population (aged 18 and over). These estimates are modelled and should, therefore, be used 

and interpreted with caution and not used to measure performance or change over time. 

Source name: Public Health England 

Collection name: Local Health 

Polarity: Low is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data from Cumbria Intelligence Observatory shows that the percentage of adults 

smoking in South Lakeland has reduced to 12.45% for 2016 compared with 15.55% for Cumbria. This has 

improved consistently since 2010 when 14.8% of adults smoked. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
  

12.45% in 2016 

SLDC Trend: 

2010: 14.8% 

2011: 14.7% 

2012: 12.7% 

2013: 14.1% 

 

Page 89

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=3527&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=3527&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


6 
 

Rate of hospital admissions per 100,000 for alcohol related harm in 
South Lakeland 
   

Rate of hospital admissions per 100,000 for alcohol related harm - This indicator measures the rate of alcohol 

related admissions per 100,000 population using Hospital Episode Statistics (HES). This indicator was 

previously reported as NI 039. 

Source name: North West Health Observatory 

Collection name: Hospital Episode Statistics 

Polarity: Low is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data shows that the number of alcohol related hospital admissions for Q1 2017/18 for 

South Lakeland were 424 compared with 461 for 15 other similar councils. However in South Lakeland the 

annual rate has increased regularly from 1,476 admissions per 100,000 population in 2008/09 to 1720 

admissions in 2016/17. 

 

 

  

SLDC Trend: 

2013/14: 1919 

2014/15: 1808 

2015/16: 1721 

2016/17: 1731 

 

Page 90

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=122&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=122&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


7 
 

Additional affordable homes provided as a percentage of all net 
additional homes in South Lakeland 
   

Additional affordable homes provided as a percentage of all net additional homes - This has been derived 

based on net additional homes provided and the number of affordable homes delivered. This expresses a 

simple count of affordable housing units provided - newly built, including gains from conversions such as 

subdivision, or acquired, as a percentage of the net increase in overall dwelling stock over one year, calculated 

as the sum of new build completions, minus demolitions, plus any gains or losses through change of use and 

conversions. This should be considered alongside the actual numbers reported for affordable dwellings and 

overall new dwellings, however as these are given as absolute values for each area care should be taken when 

drawing any comparisons with other areas. 

Source name: Communities and Local Government 

Collection name: Additional affordable dwellings provided by local authority area (by location LA) 

Polarity: No polarity 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data shows that the percentage of affordable homes provided in South Lakeland is 

top of the list when compared with 15 other similar councils. Also since 2014 a total of 407 new affordable 

homes for rent have been completed and means that the Council is on target to deliver the 1,000 new 

affordable homes for rent by 2025. 

 

 

 

SLDC Trend: 

2012/13: 27% 

2013/14: 30% 

2014/15: 63% 

2015/16: 21% 

2016/17: 33% 

 

Page 91

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=185&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=185&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


8 
 

Processing of planning applications - major - Annual in South 
Lakeland 
   

Processing of planning applications - major - Annual - This is the percentage of major planning applications 

determined in a timely manner. A timely manner is defined as within 13 weeks for major applications. This was 

previously reported as NI 157a. Whilst this indicator focuses on major applications, data is also available broken 

down by county matter, minor and other applications. 

Source name: Communities and Local Government 

Collection name: Development Control statistics 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest statistics show that for 2017/18 77% of all major planning applications were 

determined within the 13 week period. This is significantly better than the target of 60% within the 13 week 

period. 

 

 
  

SLDC Trend: 

2013/14: 79% 

2014/15: 84% 

2015/16: 65% 

2016/17: 83% 

 

Page 92

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=2128&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=2128&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


9 
 

Processing of planning applications - minor applications - Annual in 
South Lakeland 
   

Processing of planning applications - minor applications - Annual - This is the percentage of minor planning 

applications determined in a timely manner. A timely manner is defined as within 8 weeks for minor 

applications. This was previously reported as NI 157b.Whilst this indicator focuses on minor applications, data 

is also available broken down by county matter, major and other applications. 

Source name: Communities and Local Government 

Collection name: Development Control statistics 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest statistics show that for 2017/18 78% of all minor planning applications were 

determined within the 8 week period. This is significantly better than the target of 65% within the 8 week period. 

 

 

 

  

SLDC Trend: 

2013/14: 41% 

2014/15: 71% 

2015/16: 78% 

2016/17: 80% 

 

Page 93

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=2129&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=2129&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


10 
 

 

Processing of planning applications - other applications - Annual in 
South Lakeland 
   

Processing of planning applications - other applications - Annual - This is the percentage of 'other' planning 

applications determined in a timely manner. A timely manner is defined as within 8 weeks for 'other' 

applications. This was previously reported as NI 157c.Whilst this indicator focuses on 'other' applications, data 

is also available broken down by county matter, major and minor applications. 

Source name: Communities and Local Government 

Collection name: Development Control statistics 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest statistics show that for 2017/18 90% of all minor planning applications were 

determined within the 8 week period. This is significantly better than the target of 65% within the 8 week period.  

 

 

 

SLDC Trend: 

2013/14: 59% 

2014/15: 86% 

2015/16: 84% 

2016/17: 89% 

 

Page 94

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=2130&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=2130&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


11 
 

Adult participation in sport and active recreation (3x30) in South 
Lakeland 
   

Adult participation in sport and active recreation (3x30) - This indicator is the percentage of the adult population 

participating in sport, at moderate intensity, for at least 30 minutes on at least 4 days out of the last 4 weeks 

(equivalent to 30 minutes on 1 or more day a week). This indicator does not include recreational walking or 

recreational cycling. This is taken from the Active People survey. For further explanation 

http://www.sportengland.org 

Source name: Sport England 

Collection name: Active People Survey 

Polarity: High is good 

Link to latest data 

 

Commentary: The latest data shows that South Lakeland has better than average sports participation when 

compared to similar councils. Also the level of self-reported good general health of surveyed South Lakeland 

residents in 2017 was 70% as reported in the Quality of Life Survey. Data from the Public Health Outcomes 

website shows that the average health status score for adults aged 65 is consistently higher at 0.788 when 

compared with England at 0.735. 

 

 

 
 

SLDC Trend: 

2012/13: 29.6% 

2013/14: 28.2% 

2014/15: 26.5% 

2015/16: 27.2% 

Page 95

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/export_component/617/text-2/0?mod-metric=83&mod-period=3&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&ajax=1
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=83&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96



South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

17 August 2018 

Executive Report – 2018/19 

 

Portfolio:   Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio  

Report from:  Cllr Jonathan Brook 

 

 
Portfolio Responsibilities 
 
Implementing of the Local Plan and Council Plan housing objectives.  
 
Working in partnership to improve the standard, availability and affordability of housing in the 
District to meet local needs, championing these issues at national, regional and sub-regional 
level.  
 
The Council Plan objectives in relation to improved customer engagement and 
communication.  
 
Looking at innovative ways of working.  
 
The organisation of the Authority relating to the Council’s central services including 
Employee relations.  
 
To support the Leader of the Council and to deputise in his/her absence.  
 
Policies, Plans and Strategies  
 

 Local Plan (including Development Management Policies)  

 Housing Strategy and Policy (including Choice Based Letting Allocation Policy)  

 Customer Charter and Contact Strategy  

 IT/ Information/ E Government Strategy  

 Member Development and Training Plan  

 Workforce Plan 
 
Key Areas:  
 

 Strategic Housing and delivery (including Housing Enabling and Housing Grants)  

 Development Management and Building Control  

 Housing Options and Homelessness Prevention  

 Customer Services  

 Customer Connect Programme  

 IT Services  

 Member Services  

 Member Training and Development  

 HR, Legal and Committee Services  

Page 97

Item No.10



Strategic Housing and Delivery  
 
The Housing service completed a number of key projects last year and have identified a 
number of areas of focus throughout 2018/19 to support and improve Strategic Housing and 
its delivery. 
 
Throughout 2018/19 the Housing and Development Plans team will continue to work closely 
with private sector housing developers to deliver more homes across the district through the 
support of the Increased Housing Association Development Programme.  
 
The service plans to introduce a low-cost loan scheme to enable additional housing 
associations affordable homes and will progress community-led housing projects.  
 
Key documents and developments expected in 2018/19 for release will include:  

 Publication of a new Homelessness Strategy  

 Publication of a Housing Supplementary Planning Document  

 Introduction of a new model for assessing housing needs in rural areas 

 Extension of the statutory licensing of houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) 

 Commissioning of a new private sector house condition survey  
 
The Council has secured 35% affordable housing on the majority of development sites of 9 
or more homes. Since 2014 the Council has enabled and supported the delivery of over 500 
new affordable homes both to rent and buy across the district. The Council is on target to 
deliver 1000 new affordable homes to rent by 2025. As you will see within the Q1 
performance monitoring report, South Lakeland is the lead area for the number of affordable 
homes delivered within the district compared to other local authorities.  
 
Development Management and Building Control  
 
The Development Management and Building Control services will be one of the first services 
to undergo the system changes and new way of working the Customer Connect Programme 
will bring forward across 2018/19.  
 
The service is currently undergoing a data cleansing exercise in preparation for the 
Customer Connect Programme. This process is currently at half way.  
 
The service has now gone ‘paperlight’ to reduce print costs and encourage digital working. 
Development Management has adopted digital working methods in connection with 
becoming ‘paperlight’.    
 
Homelessness Prevention  
 
In April 2018 the new Homelessness Reduction Act came into place. Following this the 
homelessness service are expecting to see a demand on the service throughout 2018/19.  
One example of the legislation changes includes, anyone can access the service 56 days 
prior to being made homeless and there is a greater emphasis on prevention as the service 
will work with the customer to produce a personalised housing plan. To assist and support 
the service with the legislation changes, a new IT software has been installed. The second 
part of the Act will come in to place in October 2018 when a duty upon defined public bodies 
to refer potentially homeless households to the Council becomes law. 
 
Throughout the upcoming year the service is looking at how to improve service delivery to 
residents at Town View Fields (emergency accommodation provision for homeless people). 
Most recently a multi-agency consultation event was held to explore how future service 

Page 98



provision could look in the future. Alongside this the Service are also planning to explore 
other models of temporary accommodation to support raising demand and the growing 
complexity of client cases.  
 
The Service will be continuing to undertake work on a new homelessness strategy which is a 
legal requirement of local housing authorities and has to be produced at a maximum every 5 
years. This will be published by March 2019. Prior to publication the strategy will be 
reviewed at Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Earlier in 2018 the Service launched an outreach surgery in Ulverston. In order to extend this 
the service will offer a surgery in Windermere (Date TBC). 
 
Each quarter measures the target of ensuring 2018/19 the number of homelessness 
households living in temporary accommodation will be no more than 20 at any one time. In 
quarter 1 of 2019/18 statistics show that the maximum number was 18. This target has 
remained the same compared to quarters 3 and 4 in 2017/18.  
 
Customer Connect Programme and Customer Services 
 
The Customer Connect Programme has been planning for mobilisation since April 2018 to 
produce the business case which was signed off at July Council. Now the Business Case 
has been approved the programme will move into implementation of which there are two 
phases.   
 
Phase one will be the design and implementation of the new Leadership, Support Services 
and Strategy and Commissioning. Phase 2 will be the design and implementation of 
Universal Customer Connect.  
 
Over the next few months there will be a number of workshops preparing staff to be more 
resilient to change and equipping them with the skills needed for transitioning into the new 
ways of working. Any HR policies that require updating as a result of the new ways of 
working will be presented to HR Committee.  
 
During this same period a number of workshops will be initiated to analysis the Council’s 
processes and exploring alternative ways to reduce duplication and increase customers self-
serve options, making it easier for customers to do business with us.  
 
There will be a number of consultative customer groups made up of our demographic profile 
who will be engaged in the design and testing of our service redesign.  
 
Member Services and Member Training and Development  
 
Member Services are providing ongoing support and encouragement for members accepting 
corporate kit. The roll out of kit is ongoing to members and support and training sessions will 
be provided throughout 2018/19. The corporate kit enables all members to access systems 
such as Skype for business and the Council’s intranet and E-Learning and encourages 
paperless working supporting the Customer Connect Programme and new GDPR 
regulations.  
 
The total number of members who have received corporate kit is now 39. All members have 
been offered optional training in Sharepoint, Skype for Business and Mod Gov, a total of 14 
have attended.  
 
All members will continue to be offered various training opportunities throughout the 
upcoming financial year. In September 2018 Personal Development Plan meetings will be 

Page 99



offered to all members through face to face or Skype meetings. The service will also be 
trialing and launching the Local Government Association Councillor E-Learning Package to 
allow members to undertake training remotely.  Some other examples of training sessions 
for members that have been undertaken to date include:  
 

 How to be an effective member  

 Social Media and Web Skills  

 Know your Ward  

 Morecambe Bay Area Changes 

 Safeguarding Children  
 
Many other training sessions have been planned throughout the rest of the year which all 
members are alerted to and encouraged to attend.  
 
By lead from the Member Support Steering Group (MSSG), member services will be 
reviewing the Member PDP Process, the North West Employers Member Charter and 
agreeing a realistic timetable to achieve Level 2.  
 
The MSSG group are also considering using the Mod Gov app to access agenda and 
minutes for its meetings.  
 
IT Services 
 
IT Services have a strong emphasis on the delivery of the Customer Connect Programme. 
The service is working to build on the Enterprise platform which will underpin the 
development and configuration of new ways of working across the Council.  
 
The technology required to provide the functionality for customers to register for an account 
online and interact with Council services will first be implemented for revenue and benefits 
initially, with other services following (Planning and Builing Control).  
 
The IT Service team will begin to introduce changes to the Councils wide area network 
infrastructure to reduce costs and improve capacity. This will add capacity to the Councils 
internet connection which will provide more bandwidth for remote and mobile working as well 
as more capacity to access cloud based services. 
 
HR, Legal and Committee Services  
 
Throughout 2018/19 HR Services are working closely on implementing the Customer 
Connect Project. HR Services are leading on HR, change and transition elements of the 
project. 
 
Legal Services are continuing to build on the use of the electronic case management system 
to support the new digital ways of working.  
 
Committee Services have developed the committee agenda system (ModGov) to increase 
the number of officers and members working paperless. The development of the system 
allows members and staff to access committee agendas electronically and remotely. The 
system is automatically set up for with the relevant committees for individual members and 
allows them to make personal notes/ annotations/ comments as previously on paper copies. 

Page 100



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE 

 

There have been a number of hopeful developments on the Public Health front with regard 
to the more rural areas. There are still real threats resulting from problems over funding but 
there are significant signs of creative thinking and collaboration between various groups. The 
Central Lakes Health Centre, formed by the merger of Ambleside and Hawkshead GP 
practices, has been having constructive conversations with a representative from the CCG 
and NHS England. It is hoped this will lead to network meetings with other local practices 
with a view to improved working together. There are positive signs that it may be possible to 
bring some services in house in future 

 

The Morecambe Bay Better Care Together group has agreed that so far the rural areas have 
not benefited from the Vanguard status achieved by the group. So far money has been spent 
very effectively but only in urban areas such as Kendal, Ulverston and Grange. The intention 
is to use some of the Vanguard money which remains to help rural areas with their particular 
issues.  

 

It is hoped that modern developments will make it possible to improve contact with the 
experts in various fields. This could help with prevention as well as diagnosis and treatment. 
One consultant I spoke to at Lancaster Royal Infirmary is anxious to reach out to the patients 
who find it difficult to travel to Lancaster. He covers a wide area of South Lakeland and is 
willing to go out personally into it. I have put him in touch with representatives, including the 
practice manager, of the Central Lakes Health Centre who have been looking into the 
current challenges facing those delivering health care in the area.  

 

The role of rural pharmacies is increasingly important, but also under threat from lack of 
funding. There are important and difficult choices to be made. It is vital that the community is 
consulted over those choices. A real attempt is being made to ensure that this happens. The 
big problem is ensuring that the community responds effectively to the consultation. This is 
where District councillors can play an important role.  

 

First you can make suggestions about the methods used to inform people of the consultation 
and to encourage them to respond. The list I have been given is: posters, texts, articles in 
the Parish magazine and local papers such as the Esthwaite Link; a question and answer 
document and a public meeting. Please let me know what you think of this and what you 
suggest should be added or amended. 

 

Above all you can use your personal influence to encourage people to take part in this. 
There is a great deal of cynicism about how far consultation is genuine. I can assure you that 
there is still a chance to influence which choice is taken but what is definite is that a choice 
has to be made between different options. There is no way that all the desirable priorities 
can be funded. Hard choices have to be made and people need to understand that if they do 
not respond they have lost their chance to influence those choices. 

 

Councillor Vivienne Rees 

Page 101

Item No.11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Work Programme and Forward Plan
	Work Programme and Forward Plan - Appendix 1
	Plan

	Work Programme and Forward Plan - Appendix 2

	8 Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy
	Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy - Appendix 1
	Cost Recovery and Hardship Policy - Appendix 2

	9 Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 1 2018/19
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 1 2018/19 - Appendix 1
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 1 2018/19 - Appendix 2

	10 Portfolio Holder Report - Housing, People and Innovation
	11 Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee Update

